Stine Ekrheim and Marthe Elise Fiskerstrand Roheim

Ginzburg-Landau Theory for Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity

Master's thesis in Applied Physics and Mathematics Supervisor: Asle Sudbø June 2023

Norwegian University of Science and Technology





Stine Ekrheim and Marthe Elise Fiskerstrand Roheim

Ginzburg-Landau Theory for Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity

Master's thesis in Applied Physics and Mathematics Supervisor: Asle Sudbø June 2023

Norwegian University of Science and Technology



Abstract

Motivated by the recent interest in Cuprates high-temperature superconductors we study the interplay between two of its symmetry-breaking phases, superconductivity and charge density wave. Starting with a microscopic theory, we derived an effective bosonic action by integrating over the fermionic degrees of freedom. By using the functional integral formalism we derived self-consistent equations for the order parameters and extrapolated the theory to include fluctuations around its normal state. This resulted in a Ginzburg-Landau theory describing a system with charge density waves and superconductivity. There are three main points in our results. Firstly, the phases do not co-exist in the model we have used. Secondly, our calculations showed that charge density waves are more resistant to spacial fluctuations than superconductivity. Lastly, the coefficients in the Ginzburg-Landau theory were mostly the same for the bare charge density wave terms and the bare superconductivity terms. Ginzburg-Landau Theory for Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity

Sammendrag

Motivert av den økende interessen for Cuprate-høytemperatur-superledere, tar denne oppgaven for seg samspillet mellom to av dens symmetribrytende faser, superledning og ladningstetthetsbølger. Fra en mikroskopisk teori utledet vi en effektiv bosonisk teori ved å integrere ut de fermioniske frihetsgradene. Ved å bruke funksjonal-integral-metoder har vi utledet selvkonsistente ligninger for ordensparameterne og deretter utvidet teorien til å inkludere fluktuasjoner. Dette resulterte i en Ginzburg-Landau-teori som beskriver et system med ladningstetthetsbølger og superledning. Oppgavens resultater kan oppsummeres i tre hovedpoeng. For det første er det ingen koeksistens av fasene i modellen vi har undersøkt. For det andre viser våre beregninger at ladningstetthetsbølger er mer motstandsdyktige mot romlige fluktuasjoner, sammenlignet med superledning. Avslutnignsvis fant vi ut at koeffisientene i Ginzburg-Landau-teorien deler den samme strukturen for ladningstetthetsbølge-ordensparameteren og superlednings-ordensparameteren. Ginzburg-Landau Theory for Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity

Preface

This master's thesis is written in the last semester of a five-year integrated Master's degree program in Applied Physics and Mathematics at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU). Firstly, we want to give a big thanks to our supervisor Asle Sudbø for his time, expertise, and his guidance throughout this thesis. This has truly been more than we have hoped for. In addition to this, we want to thank our fellow students at QuSpin who made this year so much better both socially and educationally. We also want to thank our boyfriends for their support throughout this year. Next, we want to give thanks to two of the Ph.D. students at QuSpin, Niels Henrik Aase and Christian Svingen Johnsen, for their help and discussion. We also want to thank the QuSpin coordinator, Karen-Elisabeth Sødahl, for many nice talks over a coffee. A special thanks must also be given to our brilliant fellow master's student Sondre Duna Lundemo for sharing his specialization project and knowledge with us, giving us the opportunity to write a master thesis about functional integral formalism without having any pre-knowledge about this specific theory. Lastly, we want to thank each other for the incredible cooperation and friendship we developed through the years.

Stine Ehrhem

Stine Ekrheim

Marthe Robein

Marthe Elise F. Roheim

Trondheim, Norway, June 2023

Ginzburg-Landau Theory for Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity

Contents

1	Introduction 1					
	1.1	Background				
	1.2	Structure of the thesis				
2 Preliminaries						
	2.1	Conventions				
	2.2	Second quantization				
	2.3	Coherent states				
		2.3.1 Bosons				
		2.3.2 Fermions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$				
	2.4	Gaussian integrals				
	2.5	Feynman path integral				
	2.6	Functional integral over coherent states				
	2.7	Hubbard-Stratonovich decoupling				
	2.8	Peierls instablity				
3	arge Density Waves in the Functional Integral Approach 17					
	3.1	Effective action				
	3.2	Stationary phase analysis				
	3.3	Ginzburg-Landau theory for fluctuations				
		3.3.1 First order				
		3.3.2 Second order				
		3.3.3 Third order				
		3.3.4 Fourth order				
		3.3.5 Higher order				
		3.3.6 Summary of the Ginzburg-Landau theory				
4	Cha	arge Density Waves and Superconductivity in the Functional Integral				
	Approach					
	4.1	Effective action				
	4.2	Stationary phase analysis				
		4.2.1 Charge density waves				
		4.2.2 Superconductivity				
		4.2.3 Mean-field equations				
	4.3	Ginzburg-Landau theory for fluctuations				
		4.3.1 First order				

	4.3.2	Second order		40			
	4.3.3	Third order		42			
	4.3.4	Fourth order		42			
	4.3.5	Higher order		45			
	4.3.6	Summary of the Ginzburg-Landau theory		45			
5	5 Summary and Outlook						
A	Coherent State for Fermions						
в	B Gaussian Integrals B.1 Complex variables B.2 Grassmann variables						
С	C Fourier Transforms X						
D	General Formula for Matsubara Summation XI						

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background

In 1955, Peierls' theoretical work showed that the instability of a half-filled one-dimensional chain induces a charge density wave (CDW) [1]. Since then, the CDW phase has been an active field of research. In terms of applications, researchers have studied bulk layered CDW materials, which are useful in super-capacitors [2], oscillators [3], sensors [4], and spin-electronic devices [5]. The CDW state is also interesting due to its interplay with other phases, such as superconductivity. ¹

Superconductivity (SC) was discovered in 1911 by a Dutch physicist, Heike Kamerlingh Onnes [7]. Onnes's research showed a sudden drop in resistivity when cooling Mercury to ~ 4 K. It took 22 years before another important property of superconductivity was discovered, the Meissner effect [8]. The effect is that a superconductor will repel a magnetic field. Superconductors are useful in high-power transmission lines [9], MR [10], quantum computers [11], and spintronics [12].

Materials that can host the CDW and SC state are usually characterized by reduced dimensionality of their electronic and structural properties. Such materials include copperoxide (cuprate) high-temperature superconductors [13], one-dimensional organic chains [14], single-element actinide α uranium [15] and layered transition-metal chalcogenides [16–19]. In 2013 Geim stated that different materials can be used as building blocks to make new materials with desired properties [20]. Recently, new fields of applications for layered systems (2D), such as transition-metal dichalcogenides, have been discovered [21]. Another highly interesting material is the cuprate high-temperature superconductors, discovered by Bednorz and Müller in 1986 [22, 23]. The properties of these materials have been heavily researched in the last decades [24–28]. They are susceptible to different types of ordering; superconductivity, charge density waves, spin density waves, anti-ferromagnetism, and a pseudo-gap phase [25, 29]. According to da Silva Neto et al. [30], understanding the mechanism of superconductivity and its interplay with other possible spin or charge orderings in high-transition temperature ($T_{\rm C}$) cuprate superconductors remains one of the greatest challenges in condensed matter physics. The interplay that

¹Some of the introduction is from the Specialization project by Roheim and Ekrheim [6]

we are interested in here, is the one between CDWs and SC. They both are symmetrybreaking phases where their order parameters also describe their energy gaps [24, 31, 32]. Several experimental and theoretical results show that they are competing phases [33, 34]. However, several papers show evidence for co-existence between CDWs and SC [35–40]

We will derive a theory for the interplay between these phases using the functional field integral method. In the 1970s, non-perturbative problems received more and more attention, and the need for a new way to solve them arose. Up until then, many problems in condensed matter physics were solved in a perturbative manner, which means adding small perturbations to solvable systems. The functional integral method gave the researchers new theoretical insight into problems beyond perturbation theory. This method was originally developed for high-energy physics but was also applicable in condensed matter physics. Non-perturbative problems are present in various contexts, for example in strongly correlated electron systems, quantum magnetism, and phase transitions. A common factor for these systems is that they exhibit emergent phenomena and that they have a collective behavior that can not be described by perturbative methods alone.

By using the strength of the functional field integrals we can develop a Ginzburg-Landau theory from a stationary point of the order parameters in our system. The Ginzburg-Landau theory was proposed by Ginzburg in 1950 [41] for superconductivity. The theory was based on the work of Landau for superfluidity from 1941 [42]. Some years later, the microscopic theory for superconductivity by Bardeen, Cooper, and Schrieffer (BCS) (1957) was published [43], which gave the physicist a better understanding of the superconducting phase.

1.2 Structure of the thesis

The following section will introduce the essential building blocks of the theory that will be used throughout the thesis. This includes the formalism of the functional integral, with its most important underlying derivations. Following this theory, we will in section 3 use the functional integral formalism to describe the CDW state. During the section, we will derive its mean-field equation and the critical temperature of the phase transition from a microscopic model. Finally, from this, we will derive a Ginzburg-Landau theory describing the CDW state. The thesis's next section will answer the question of whether CDWs and SC can co-exist in the system we are looking at. In order to answer this question, we will derive a Ginzburg-Landau theory for a system with CDWs and SC. Following the main part of the thesis is the summary and outlook, where we will summarize our results.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter, we will establish the foundation of a theory that will answer the question of whether charge density waves and superconductivity can coexist in the presented model. The theory in the preliminaries' is built upon the following books, *Condensed matter field theory* by Altlands and Simons' [44], *Quantum Many-Particle Systems* by Negele and Orland [45], and the unpublished lecture notes from the course *Functional Integral Methods in Condensed Matter Physics* by professor Asle Sudbø at NTNU [46].

2.1 Conventions

First, we want to establish some of the notations and conventions that will be used throughout this thesis. Firstly, we use bold font to write vectors, \mathbf{k} , and \hat{k} for the unit vector. Later on, we will use a four-vector, which we will write as $k = (\mathbf{k}, \omega)$. For an operator, we will use hat-notations, where the reader will be able to distinguish the operator from the unit vector by context. Plancks constant \hbar , and the Boltzmann constant k_B , will be set to unity throughout the thesis. The convention we use for the Fourier transformation is

$$f(k) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r}} f(\mathbf{r})$$
(2.1.1)

where N is the number of lattice sites.

2.2 Second quantization

In many-body quantum theory for identical particles, the operators can be defined as a matrix element in a N-dimensional Hilbert space, which is the direct product of the one-particle Hilbert space

$$\mathcal{H}^{N} \equiv \underbrace{\mathcal{H} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}}_{N \text{ copies}}.$$
(2.2.1)

We are interested in the subset $\mathcal{F}^N \subset \mathcal{H}^N$ which defines the physical *N*-body Hilbert space¹. By describing the system of particles in the occupation number representation,

¹Alexander Altland and Ben Simons Condensed Matter Field Theory p.42 (2010) [44]

every state can be represented by $|n_1, n_2, ... \rangle$, where n_i is the occupation number of particle i in the state. From this, we have that every state in \mathcal{F}^N can be represented by a state vector $|\Psi\rangle$ on the form

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n_1, n_2, \dots} c_{n_1, n_2, \dots} |n_1, n_2, \dots\rangle,$$
 (2.2.2)

where $c_{n_1,n_2,\ldots}$ are complex coefficients. In order to have a theory that can be used in the Grand Canonical ensemble, with an unknown number of particles, we define the relevant Fock space as

$$\mathcal{F} = \bigoplus_{N=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}^N.$$
(2.2.3)

Here, \mathcal{F} defines the principal area of quantum many-body theory. The vacuum space, \mathcal{F}^0 , has one normalized basis state, the vacuum state $|0\rangle$, which contains no particles. By introducing the operator $a_i^{\dagger} : \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}$, which raises the occupation number for particle *i* by one, we have the tools needed to construct every state from the vacuum state

$$|n_1, n_2, ...\rangle = \prod_i \frac{1}{(n_i!)^{1/2}} (a_i^{\dagger})^{n_i} |0\rangle.$$
 (2.2.4)

To complete the picture we also need the opposite operator, the annihilation operator a_i . This operator decreases the occupation number for particle *i* by one. The commutation relations for the annihilation and creation operators for bosons are

$$[a_i, a_j^{\dagger}] = \delta_{ij}, \quad [a_i, a_j] = 0, \quad [a_i^{\dagger}, a_j^{\dagger}] = 0,$$
 (2.2.5)

where the commutator is defined as [A, B] = AB - BA. For fermions we have that

$$\{a_i, a_j^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{ij}, \quad \{a_i, a_j\} = 0, \quad \{a_i^{\dagger}, a_j^{\dagger}\} = 0, \quad (2.2.6)$$

where the anti-commutator is defined as $\{A, B\} = AB + BA$. The difference is due to the Pauli principle for fermions, which says that there can only be one fermion per state. For bosons, there are no limitations on the number of particles per state.

2.3 Coherent states

The following section will state some of the most important results in chapter 4.1 of the book *Condensed matter field theory* [44]. The aim is to continue the derivation of a theory for many-body Hamiltonians. Motivated by the section about second quantization, the next step is to present the eigenstates for the annihilation operator, called *coherent states*. The coherent state representation is an elegant formalism that makes it possible to establish a general structure for both fermions and bosons. This might be surprising since there are, as we will see, significant differences in their algebraic structure. By the Pauli principle, we know that the eigenvalues for fermions need to anticommute. In order to fulfill this condition we need to introduce something called Grassmann numbers². First, we will present the coherent states for bosons where the eigenvalues can be represented by complex numbers.

 $^{^{2}}$ Named after the German mathematician Hermann Günther Grassmann (1809-1877). Credited with inventing what is now called exterior algebra.

2.3.1 Bosons

We want to look at the eigenstates of the bosonic Fock-space, and as we have just seen in equation (2.2.4), every state can be expressed by using creation operators on the vacuum state. One could therefore think that it would have been possible to find an eigenstate to this operator. However, the creation operator *increases the minimum* number of particles with one, and therefore can not have an eigenstate. The annihilation operator on the other hand, *decreases the maximum* number of particles in the state by one, which makes it possible to have an eigenstate. Moving forward, let us assume that we have been able to find an eigenstate $|\phi\rangle$ for the annihilation operator, with a consisting eigenvalue ϕ_i . This gives us the eigenvalue equation

$$a_i |\phi\rangle = \phi_i |\phi\rangle, \tag{2.3.1}$$

which is true for all *i*. The eigenstates $|\phi\rangle$ are called bosonic coherent states and can be expressed as

$$|\phi\rangle \equiv \exp\left(\sum_{i} \phi_{i} a_{i}^{\dagger}\right)|0\rangle,$$
 (2.3.2)

where $\phi = {\phi_i}$ is a set of complex numbers. By taking the hermitian conjugate of the eigenvalue equation (2.3.1) we get the left eigenstates of the creation operators

$$\langle \phi | a_i^{\dagger} = \langle \phi | \bar{\phi}_i, \tag{2.3.3}$$

where $\langle \phi | = \langle 0 | \exp(\sum_i \bar{\phi}_i a_i) \text{ and } \bar{\phi} \text{ is the complex conjugate of } \phi$. From equation (2.3.2), we can see that the derivative, of the eigenstate $|\phi\rangle$, with respect to the eigenvalue gives the creation operator acting on the eigenstate. The same argument applies to the left eigenstate of the annihilation operator,

$$a_i^{\dagger} |\phi\rangle = \partial_{\phi_i} |\phi\rangle, \quad \langle \phi | a_i = \partial_{\bar{\phi}_i} \langle \phi |.$$
 (2.3.4)

The next step is to find the overlap between two coherent states. We have that $\langle \phi | \theta \rangle = \langle 0 | e^{\sum_i \bar{\phi}_i a_i} | \theta \rangle = e^{\sum_i \bar{\phi}_i \theta_i} \langle 0 | \theta \rangle$. This allows us to write the overlap and the norm of a state as

$$\langle \phi | \theta \rangle = \exp\left(\sum_{i} \bar{\phi}_{i} \theta_{i}\right), \quad \langle \phi | \phi \rangle = \exp\left(\sum_{i} \bar{\phi}_{i} \phi_{i}\right), \quad (2.3.5)$$

respectively. The coherent states form an overcomplete set of states in Fock space and the unity operator $\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{F}}$ is

$$\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{F}} = \int \prod_{i} \frac{d\phi_{i} d\phi_{i}}{2\pi i} \mathrm{e}^{-\sum \bar{\phi}_{i} \phi_{i}} |\phi\rangle \langle\phi|, \qquad (2.3.6)$$

where $d\bar{\phi}_i d\phi_i = d\text{Re}\phi_i d\text{Im}\phi_i$. This finishes the coherent states for bosons, and next up we will present the coherent states of fermions.

2.3.2 Fermions

As pointed out earlier, the eigenvalues of the fermionic operators must anticommute. Hence, before proceeding, we need to introduce "numbers" that anti-commute, Grassmann numbers.

A complete treatment of **Grassmann algebra** is given in *The method of second quantization* by Berezin [47], we will only introduce the properties needed to present the theory of the coherent state for fermions. Grassmann algebra is defined by a set of generators $\{\xi_{\alpha}\}$ where $\alpha = 1, ..., n$. The first thing to note is that Grassmann numbers anti-commute

$$\xi_{\alpha}\xi_{\beta} = -\xi_{\beta}\xi_{\alpha}, \qquad (2.3.7)$$

which is the desired property. This property essentially gives us that $\xi_{\alpha}^2 = 0$. Due to the anti-commutation, functions of Grassmann numbers can be defined by their Taylor expansion with a finite number of terms

$$f(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_k) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i_1, \dots, i_n=1}^k \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^n f}{\partial \xi_{i_1} \cdots \partial \xi_{i_n}} \bigg|_{\xi=0} \xi_{i_n} \cdots \xi_{i_1}, \qquad (2.3.8)$$

where ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_k are Grassmann numbers. Any function which depends on only one variable can be written as

$$f(\xi) = f(0) + f'(\xi) \big|_{\xi=0} \xi.$$
(2.3.9)

Due to the properties of Grassmann numbers, both derivatives and integration are different from what we are used to from real and complex numbers. For Grassmann numbers these operations are defined as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi}\xi = 1, \quad \int d\xi 1 = 0, \quad \int d\xi\xi = 1. \tag{2.3.10}$$

This shows us that the integration and derivation of Grassmann variables are essentially the same. For instance, the integration of a function of one Grassmann variable gives

$$\int d\xi f(\xi) = \int d\xi \left[f(0) + f'(\xi) \big|_{\xi=0} \xi \right] = f'(\xi) \big|_{\xi=0}, \qquad (2.3.11)$$

which is the same answer as for derivation, $\partial_{\xi} f(\xi) = f'(\xi)|_{\xi=0}$. Now, being more familiar with Grassmann numbers, we are ready to proceed to the derivation of coherent states for fermions.

To create coherent states for fermions we need to expand the relevant Fock-space. We introduce a generator ξ_{α} to every annihilation operator a_{α} and another generator $\bar{\xi}_{\alpha}$ to every creation operator, a_{α}^{\dagger} . This allows us to expand every vector in this general Fock-space

$$|\psi\rangle = \sum_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} |\xi_{\alpha}\rangle, \qquad (2.3.12)$$

6

where the generators, ξ_{α} are Grassmann numbers and $|\xi_{\alpha}\rangle$ are vectors in the Fock space. We will later see that these are the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the annihilation operator. The anti-commutation relations between the operators and their generators are defined as

$$\{\xi, a\} = 0, \quad \{\bar{\xi}, a^{\dagger}\} = 0.$$
 (2.3.13)

The next important definition is the effect of a dagger, $(\xi a)^{\dagger} = \bar{\xi} a^{\dagger}$. The significant difference from the bosonic case is that ξ and $\bar{\xi}$ are independent of each other. Moreover, despite the sign-change in the exponent, we can write the fermion coherent state in the same way as for the bosonic case

$$|\xi\rangle = \exp\left(-\sum_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}\right)|0\rangle, \qquad (2.3.14)$$

where the minus is due to the eigenvalue-equation

$$a_{\alpha}|\xi\rangle = \xi_{\alpha}|\xi\rangle. \tag{2.3.15}$$

The proof for this is shown in appendix A. Due to the similarities to the structure of the bosonic coherent states, we will only list the results

$$\langle \xi | = \langle 0 | \exp\left(\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\xi}_{\alpha} a_{\alpha}\right), \quad \langle \xi | a_{\alpha}^{\dagger} = \langle \xi | \bar{\xi}_{\alpha}, \qquad (2.3.16)$$

$$a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}|\xi\rangle = -\partial_{\xi_{\alpha}}|\xi\rangle, \quad \langle\xi|a_{\alpha} = \partial_{\bar{\xi}_{\alpha}}\langle\xi|.$$
 (2.3.17)

From this, we can find that the overlap between two coherent states is

$$\langle \xi | \eta \rangle = \langle 0 | e^{\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\xi}_{\alpha} a_{\alpha}} e^{-\sum_{\alpha} \eta_{\alpha} a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}} | 0 \rangle = \langle 0 | \prod_{\alpha} (1 + \bar{\xi}_{\alpha} a_{\alpha}) (1 - \eta_{\alpha} a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}) | 0 \rangle$$
(2.3.18)

$$=\prod_{\alpha} (1 + \bar{\xi_{\alpha}} \eta_{\alpha}) = e^{\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\xi_{\alpha}} \eta_{\alpha}}.$$
(2.3.19)

From this, we can find the unit operator in the fermionic Fock space

$$\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{F}} = \int \prod_{\alpha} d\bar{\xi}_{\alpha} d\xi_{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{-\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\xi}_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha}} |\xi\rangle \langle\xi|.$$
(2.3.20)

Finally, we define a Grassmann coherent state representation

$$|\psi\rangle = \int \prod_{\alpha} d\bar{\xi}_{\alpha} d\xi_{\alpha} e^{-\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\xi}_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha}} \psi(\bar{\xi}) |\xi\rangle, \qquad (2.3.21)$$

where $\psi(\bar{\xi}) = \langle \xi | \psi \rangle$.

Before moving on we want to state some of the mathematical and physical differences between fermionic and bosonic coherent states. Mathematically there are two notably important differences besides some sign changes. Firstly, as we have already mentioned, the Grassmann numbers ξ and $\overline{\xi}$ are completely independent of each other. Secondly,

Eigenstate	$ \xi angle = \expig(\zeta\sum_lpha\xi_lpha a^\dagger_lphaig) 0 angle$		
Annihilation operator	$a_{\alpha} \xi\rangle = \xi_{\alpha} \xi\rangle, \langle\xi a_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{\alpha}}\langle\xi $		
Creation operator	$a^{\dagger}_{lpha} \xi angle = \zeta rac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{lpha}} \xi angle, \langle \xi a^{\dagger}_{lpha} = \langle \xi ar{\xi}_{lpha}$		
Matrix Element	$\langle \xi A(a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}, a_{\alpha}) \xi' \rangle = \exp\left(\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\xi}_{\alpha} \xi'_{\alpha}\right) A(\bar{\xi}_{\alpha}, \xi_{\alpha})$		
Resolution of identity	$1_{\mathcal{F}} = \int \mathcal{D} \xi \expig(-\sum_lpha ar{\xi}_lpha \xi_lpha ig) \xi angle \langle \xi $		
Trace	$\operatorname{trA} = \int \mathcal{D}\xi \exp\left(-\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\xi}_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}\right) \langle \zeta\xi A \xi \rangle$		
Vector in Fock Space	$ \psi angle = \int \mathcal{D}\xi \expig(-\sum_lpha ar{\xi}_lpha \xi_lphaig)\psi(ar{\xi}_lpha) \xi angle$		
Coherent state representation	$\psi(\bar{\xi}) = \langle \xi \psi \rangle$		
Matrix element of creation op.	$\langle \xi a^{\dagger}_{lpha} \psi angle = ar{\xi}_{lpha} \psi(ar{\xi})$		
Matrix element of annihilation op.	$\langle \xi a_{lpha} \psi angle = rac{\partial}{\partial \xi_{lpha}} \psi(ar{\xi})$		
$\mathcal{D}\xi = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}} \prod_{\alpha} d\bar{\xi}_{\alpha} d\xi_{\alpha},$	$\mathcal{N} = \begin{cases} 2\pi i & \text{for bosons} \\ 1 & \text{for fermions} \end{cases}$		

Summary of the coherent states for bosons and fermions

Table 2.1: Summary of the coherent states for bosons ($\zeta = 1$) and fermions ($\zeta = -1$)

unlike the integral over complex numbers, the Grassmann version of the Gaussian integral does not involve the factor $2\pi i$. The structure of the coherent states for fermions and bosons is summarized in table 2.1. The coherent states of fermions are not physical states but are useful in formulating many-fermion and many-boson theories. Due to the termination of the series expansion of Grassmann variables, every function will be linear, and the stationary point equation makes no sense for coherent fermionic states. A way to solve this is to integrate over the fermionic degree of freedom to get an effective theory. On the other hand, coherent states for bosons are physical states. For example, a classical electromagnetic field can be viewed as a coherent state of photons.

2.4 Gaussian integrals

In the formulation of the functional integral method, it is useful to establish a set of Gaussian integrals that will help us with the derivation of the formalism. We start out by presenting multiple Gaussian integrals over complex variables, which we will use in the formulation of functional integrals for **bosons**. The integral we want to evaluate is

$$I_{\text{boson}} = \prod_{k} \int \frac{d\bar{x}_k dx_k}{2\pi i} e^{-\bar{x}_i A_{ij} x_j + x_j \bar{\mathcal{J}}_j + \bar{x}_i \mathcal{J}_i}$$
(2.4.1)

where we sum over repeated indices. We have that A_{ij} is a positive definite, symmetric matrix with det(A) > 0 and x_i and \mathcal{J}_i are vectors. It is shown in appendix B.1 that by performing the integrals we get

$$I_{\text{boson}} = \frac{1}{\det(A)} e^{\bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j}.$$
(2.4.2)

For **fermions**, the integration variables ξ_k , are Grassmann variables. As we have seen in section 2.3, the integration over Grassmann variables is different. Hence, the integral we want to look at now is

$$I_{\text{fermion}} = \prod_{k} \int d\bar{\xi}_k d\xi_k e^{-\bar{\xi}_i A_{ij}\xi_j + \xi_i \bar{\mathcal{J}}_i + \bar{\xi}_j \mathcal{J}_j}, \qquad (2.4.3)$$

where the \mathcal{J} 's are vectors of Grassmann-variables, and A_{ij} must fulfull the same contiditions as for bosons. As shown in appendix B.2, this integral also has an elegant answer

$$I_{\text{fermion}} = \det(A) e^{\bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j} = e^{\bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j + \operatorname{tr} \ln(A)}, \qquad (2.4.4)$$

where the last transition follows from the identity, det $\mathbf{A} = e^{\operatorname{tr} \ln \mathbf{A}}$. We can see that the determinant is now in the numerator compared to equation (2.4.2), where it was in the denominator. This is due to the expansion of the exponential function, which will terminate after only two terms. Physically this corresponds to the restriction of the Pauli principle. The last integral is specifically useful because it will allow us to integrate over the fermionic degrees of freedom. This means that we can work with an effective bosonic theory where it is possible to look for expansions from a stationary value of the free energy.

In this thesis, we will also work with bigger systems, where we structure parts of the system in a matrix with four indices $A_{i,j} \to A_{k,k'}^{i,j}$. The integral we need to calculate is

$$\tilde{I}_{\text{fermion}} = \prod_{n} \int d\bar{\xi}_{n} d\xi_{n} \mathrm{e}^{-\sum_{k,k'} \sum_{i,j} \bar{\xi}_{k}^{i} A_{kk'}^{ij} \xi_{k'}^{j} + \xi_{k}^{i} \bar{\mathcal{J}}_{k}^{i} + \bar{\xi}_{k}^{j} \mathcal{J}_{k}^{j}}}.$$
(2.4.5)

By generalizing the result from appendix B.2, we get

$$\tilde{I}_{\text{fermion}} = e^{\sum_k \xi_k^i \bar{\mathcal{J}}_k^i + \bar{\xi}_k^j \mathcal{J}_k^j} e^{\text{Tr}\log[A]}$$
(2.4.6)

where the trace with a capital T is defined as

$$\operatorname{Tr}[A] = \sum_{k} \operatorname{tr}[A]_{kk} = \sum_{k} \sum_{i} A_{kk}^{ii},$$
 (2.4.7)

where Tr is the trace in both upper and lower indices and tr is only for one of them.

2.5 Feynman path integral

The goal of this section is to formulate the many-particle partition function in the coherent state basis. To make the derivation clearer we will first introduce the Feynman path integral to express the partition function for a single particle in the position basis. To start off we consider the matrix element of the evolution operator of the system

$$\mathcal{U}(x_f, t_f; x_i, t_i) = \langle x_f | e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} H(t_f - t_i)} | x_i \rangle, \qquad (2.5.1)$$

where $|x_i\rangle$ and $\langle x_f|$ are the initial and final eigenstates of the position operator respectively, and \hat{H} is the Hamiltonian of the system. In this expression, we have kept \hbar to show the structure of the evolution operator, but will further set it to 1. In general, precise calculations of a physical system over a finite time interval are often not possible. However, we can divide the time interval (t_i, t_f) into M numbers of infinitesimal time intervals. This makes it possible to evaluate each interval separately, where each interval is characterized by a stepsize $\epsilon = \frac{t_f - t_i}{M}$. By applying this approach, we can express the matrix element $\mathcal{U}(x_f, t_f; x_i, t_i)$ as follows

$$\mathcal{U}(x_f, t_f; x_i, t_i) = \langle x_f | \left(e^{-i\hat{H}\epsilon} \right)^M | x_i \rangle.$$
(2.5.2)

The way to solve this is to divide the matrix element into separate elements for each timestep. In order to do this we insert the completeness relation for x_i , $1 = \int dx_i |x_i\rangle \langle x_i|$, M - 1 times between each factor $e^{-iH\epsilon}$. Using this, the evolution operator is

$$\mathcal{U}(x_f, t_f; x_i, t_i) = \int \prod_{k=1}^{M-1} dx_k \langle x_M | \mathrm{e}^{i\epsilon\hat{H}} | x_{M-1} \rangle \langle x_{M-1} | \mathrm{e}^{i\epsilon\hat{H}} | x_{M-2} \rangle \langle x_{M-2} |$$
$$\times \cdots \mathrm{e}^{i\epsilon\hat{H}} | x_1 \rangle \langle x_1 | \mathrm{e}^{i\epsilon\hat{H}} | x_0 \rangle, \qquad (2.5.3)$$

where we renamed x_i to x_0 and x_f to x_M to make it consistent with the notation of the inserted states. The current formulation of the matrix element \mathcal{U} , makes it clear that it is a summation over the entire ensemble of possible paths that a particle may take, originating from the initial position x_0 and terminating at the end-point x_M . That is why it is called a path integral.

Up to this point, the obtained result remains exact. However, in order to proceed, it is necessary to make approximations to the matrix element. We start out by evaluating a single matrix element

$$\langle x_k | \mathrm{e}^{-i\epsilon \hat{H}} | x_{k-1} \rangle = \int dp_k \langle x_k | p_k \rangle \langle p_k | e^{-i\epsilon \hat{H}} | x_{k-1} \rangle, \qquad (2.5.4)$$

where we inserted the completeness relation for p_k . To be able to proceed with the matrix element $\langle p_k | e^{-i\epsilon H(p,x)} | x_{k-1} \rangle$ we need to arrange the position operators to the right of all the momentum operators, which is called normal ordering. It can be shown that the exponential can be expressed as a series expansion, where the first term contains the normal ordered Hamiltonian³

$$e^{-i\epsilon H(\hat{p},\hat{x})} =: e^{-i\epsilon H(\hat{p},\hat{x})} :- (\epsilon)^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-i\epsilon)^n}{(n+2)!} \Big(H(\hat{p},\hat{x})^{n+2} - : [H(\hat{p},\hat{x})]^{n+2} : \Big), \qquad (2.5.5)$$

³Negele, Quantum Many-Particle Systems, 1988, page 59 [45]

where the notation : A : is the normal ordering of A. The first approximation is to let $M \to \infty$, which makes the step size small $\epsilon \ll 1$. Expanding to first order in ϵ gives

$$e^{i\epsilon H(\hat{p},\hat{x})} \approx :e^{i\epsilon H(\hat{p},\hat{x})} :.$$
(2.5.6)

To make the derivation clearer, we will specify the Hamiltonian to be a single particle in a potential, $\hat{H}(\hat{p}, \hat{x}) = \frac{\hat{p}^2}{2m} + V(\hat{x})$. Using this, plus the fact that $\langle x_k | p_k \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{ip_k x_k}$ and $\langle p_k | x_{k-1} \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-ip_k x_{k-1}}$, we obtain

$$\langle x_k | \mathrm{e}^{-i\epsilon \hat{H}} | x_{k-1} \rangle = \int dp_k \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \mathrm{e}^{ip_k x_k} \mathrm{e}^{-i\epsilon H(p_k, x_{k-1})} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \mathrm{e}^{-ip_k x_{k-1}} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$$

= $\sqrt{\frac{m}{2\pi i\epsilon}} \mathrm{e}^{i\epsilon [\frac{m}{2\epsilon^2} (x_k - x_{k-1})^2 - V(x_{k-1})]} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2).$ (2.5.7)

Next, we introduce the following

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{x_k - x_{k-1}}{\epsilon} \to \frac{dx}{dt}, \quad \lim_{M \to \infty} \epsilon \sum_{k=1}^{M-1} \to \int_{t_i}^{t_f},$$
$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \int \left(\prod_{k=1}^{M-1} dx_k \sqrt{\frac{m}{2\pi i \epsilon}} \right) \to \int_{x_i, t_i}^{x_f, t_f} \mathcal{D}[x(t)].$$

By using these approximations the expression for \mathcal{U} is simplified

$$\mathcal{U}(x_f t_f, x_i t_i) = \int_{x_i, t_i}^{x_f, t_f} \mathcal{D}[x(t)] \mathrm{e}^{i\mathcal{S}[x(t)]}, \qquad (2.5.8)$$

where the action $\mathcal{S}[x(t)]$ and the Lagrangian L[x(t)] is

$$\mathcal{S}[x(t)] = \int_{t_i}^{t_f} L[x(t)], \quad L[x(t)] = \frac{1}{2}m\left(\frac{dx}{dt}\right)^2 - V(x(t)).$$
(2.5.9)

In this calculation, we have assumed a one-dimensional system. Still, it can also easily be generalized to *n* dimension by writing $\lim_{M\to\infty} \int \left(\prod_{k=1}^{M-1} dx_k (\frac{m}{2\pi i\epsilon})^{\frac{n}{2}}\right) \to \int_{x_i,t_i}^{x_f,t_f} \mathcal{D}[x(t)].$

Partition function Next, we will use this to find an expression for the partition function for a general Hamiltonian. From statistical mechanics, we know that we can write the partition function as

$$Z = \operatorname{tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-\beta\hat{H}}) = \int dx \langle x | \mathrm{e}^{-\beta\hat{H}} | x \rangle.$$
 (2.5.10)

The integrand has the same form as the evolution operator, where $x_i = x_f = x$ and $\beta = i(t_f - t_i)$. By introducing the imaginary time $\tau \equiv it$, we have that

$$dt = -id\tau, \quad \frac{d}{dt} = i\frac{d}{d\tau}, \quad x(t) \to x(\tau),$$
 (2.5.11)

which allows us to use the results from earlier. This gives the partition function formulated as a path integral

$$Z = \int dx \langle x | \mathrm{e}^{-\beta \hat{H}} | x \rangle = \int_{x(0)=x(\beta)} \mathcal{D}[x(\tau)] \mathrm{e}^{-\int_0^\beta d\tau H[x(\tau)]}.$$
 (2.5.12)

Furthermore, it can be generalized to a many-particle system.

2.6 Functional integral over coherent states

For a single-particle Hamiltonian, it is convenient to express the eigenstates in the position or momentum basis, but for a many-particle system, the Hamiltonian is typically expressed by annihilation and creation operators. Consequently, we want to express the partition function for the many-particle system in the eigenstates of the annihilation operator, which were introduced in section 2.3. The derivation has the same starting point as for the path integral for a single particle, but now in the coherent state basis

$$\mathcal{U}(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,f}t_f, \phi_{\alpha,f}t_i) = \langle \phi_f | e^{-iH(t_f - t_i)} | \phi_i \rangle.$$
(2.6.1)

Here, we have that $|\phi_i\rangle$ is the initial coherent state with components $\phi_{\alpha,i}$ and $\langle \phi_f |$ is the final state with components $\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,f}$. We use the same technique as in the section above and divide the finite time interval (t_i, t_f) into M infinitesimal time intervals, $\epsilon = \frac{t_f - t_i}{M}$. Next, we insert the resolution of identity from table 2.1 between each factor

$$\mathcal{U}(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,f}t_{f},\phi_{\alpha,f}t_{i}) = \lim_{M \to \infty} \int \prod_{k=1}^{M-1} \prod_{\alpha} \frac{d\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k}d\phi_{\alpha,k}}{\mathcal{N}} e^{-\sum_{k=1}^{M-1}\sum_{\alpha}\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k}\phi_{\alpha,k}} \prod_{k=1}^{M} \langle \phi_{k} | : e^{-i\epsilon H(a_{\alpha}^{\dagger},a_{\alpha})} : +\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{2}) | \phi_{k-1} \rangle,$$
(2.6.2)

where $\mathcal{N} = 1$ for fermions and $\mathcal{N} = 2\pi i$ for bosons. Note that there is an additional exponential factor due to the closure relation of coherent states. It can be shown that

$$\langle \phi_k | : e^{-i\epsilon H(a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}, a_{\alpha})} : |\phi_{k-1}\rangle = e^{\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k} \phi_{\alpha,k-1} - i\epsilon H(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k}, \phi_{\alpha,k})}.$$
(2.6.3)

Now, \mathcal{U} is

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \int \prod_{k=1}^{M-1} \prod_{\alpha} \frac{d\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k} d\phi_{\alpha,k}}{\mathcal{N}} e^{-\sum_{k=1}^{M-1} \sum_{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k} \phi_{\alpha,k}} e^{\sum_{k=1}^{M} (\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k} \phi_{\alpha,k-1} - i\epsilon H(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k}, \phi_{\alpha,k})}.$$
(2.6.4)

Next, we introduce a trajectory $\phi_{\alpha}(t)$ to represent the set $\{\phi_{\alpha,1}, \phi_{\alpha,2}, ..., \phi_{\alpha,M}\}$ and let $\epsilon \to 0$ which gives us

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k} \frac{\phi_{\alpha,k} - \phi_{\alpha,k-1}}{\epsilon} \right) \equiv \bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t) \partial_t \phi_{\alpha}(t).$$
(2.6.5)

Using this notation, the Hamiltonian can be written as

$$H(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k},\phi_{\alpha,k}) \equiv H(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t),\phi_{\alpha}(t)).$$
(2.6.6)

Finally, the expression for \mathcal{U} is

$$\mathcal{U}(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,f}, t_f; \phi_{\alpha,i}, t_i) = \int_{\phi_{\alpha}(t_i)}^{\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t_f)} \mathcal{D}[\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t), \phi_{\alpha}(t)] e^{\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t_f)\phi_{\alpha}(t_i) + i \int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt L[\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t), \phi_{\alpha}(t)]}, \qquad (2.6.7)$$

12

where L is the Lagrangrian

$$L[\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t),\phi_{\alpha}(t)] = \sum_{\alpha} i\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t)\partial_{t}\phi_{\alpha}(t) - H\left(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t),\phi_{\alpha}(t)\right)$$
(2.6.8)

and

$$\mathcal{D}[\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(t),\phi_{\alpha}(t)] = \lim_{M \to \infty} \prod_{k=1}^{M-1} \prod_{\alpha} \frac{d\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,k} d\phi_{\alpha,k}}{\mathcal{N}}.$$
(2.6.9)

Having found the formulation of the evolution operator in the coherent state basis, we proceed to the partition function.

Partition function in the coherent state basis

By following the same approach as for the single particle Hamiltonian, we start out with the partition function. The difference is that we will take the trace in the coherent state basis, and that our Hamiltonian is a many-particle Hamiltonian formulated by annihilation and creation operators

$$Z = \operatorname{tr}\left[e^{-\beta(H-\mu N)}\right] = \int \prod_{\alpha} \frac{d\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}d\phi_{\alpha}}{\mathcal{N}} e^{-\sum_{\alpha}\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}\phi_{\alpha}} \langle \zeta\phi | e^{-\beta(\hat{H}-\mu\hat{N})} | \phi \rangle, \qquad (2.6.10)$$

where $\zeta = 1$ for bosons and $\zeta = -1$ for fermions. As for the position basis, we can use the result for the evolution operator to rewrite the partition function. By doing so we have that

$$\begin{split} \phi_{\alpha,i} &= \phi_{\alpha}, \quad \bar{\phi}_{\alpha,f} = \zeta \bar{\phi}_{\alpha}, \quad i(t_f - t_i) = \beta, \\ \tau &= \beta, \quad dt = -id\tau, \quad \phi(t) \to \phi(\tau), \end{split}$$

where we again introduced τ as an imaginary time. The partition function can now be written as

$$Z = \int_{\phi_{\alpha}(\beta) = \zeta \phi_{\alpha}(0)} \mathcal{D}[\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(\tau), \phi_{\alpha}(\tau)] e^{-S(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}, \phi_{\alpha})}, \qquad (2.6.11)$$

where the integral limits are different for bosons and fermions. For bosons the limits are periodic, but for fermions they are anti-periodic. The action in the exponent is

$$S(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha},\phi_{\alpha}) = \int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau \bigg[\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(\tau) \left(\partial_{\tau} - \mu\right) \phi_{\alpha}(\tau) + H\big(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha}(\tau),\phi_{\alpha}(\tau)\big) \bigg], \qquad (2.6.12)$$

which is the action in the time representation. To get rid of the derivative in the exponent, the Fourier conjugate representation of $\phi_{\alpha}(\tau)$ is introduced,

$$\phi(\tau) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\beta}} \sum_{\omega_n} \phi_n e^{-i\omega_n \tau}, \quad \omega_n = \begin{cases} 2n\pi T & \text{bosons}\\ (2n+1)\pi T & \text{fermions} \end{cases}, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(2.6.13)

where ω_n are called **Matsubara frequencies**. Using this gives us the action

$$S(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha},\phi_{\alpha}) = \sum_{n} \left[\sum_{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{\alpha,n} \Big(-i\omega_{n} - \mu \Big) \phi_{\alpha,n} + H \Big(\bar{\phi}_{\alpha,n},\phi_{\alpha,n} \Big) \right].$$
(2.6.14)

This is the frequency representation of the action, and the representation we will use throughout this thesis.

2.7 Hubbard-Stratonovich decoupling

In this thesis, we will make use of actions with a non-interacting part S_0 and an interacting part $S_{\rm int}$

$$S = S_0 + S_{\text{int}}.$$
 (2.7.1)

The aim of this section is to derive the decoupling of the interaction term. The decoupling results in integrals that are quadratic in the fermionic field variables. Hence, the integrals can be solved using the theory from section 2.4 about Gaussian integrals. Consider an interaction operator for two fermions

$$S_{\rm int} = V_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}\bar{\psi}_{\alpha}\psi_{\beta}\bar{\psi}_{\gamma}\psi_{\delta} \tag{2.7.2}$$

where $\bar{\psi}$ and ψ are fermionic field variables. The indices $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta$ refer to an undefined set of quantum numbers, Matsubara frequencies, etc. The interaction matrix element is $V_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}$. Introducing composite operators $\hat{\rho}_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \bar{\psi}_{\alpha}\psi_{\beta}$, one can rewrite the action as $\hat{\rho}_m V_{mn} \hat{\rho}_n$, where $m = (\alpha, \beta)$ and $n = (\gamma, \delta)$. To reduce the action to be quadratic in ψ 's, we introduce the auxiliary bosonic field ϕ and insert unity for the new field. We can now write

$$e^{\hat{\rho}_m V_{mn}\hat{\rho}_n} = \int D\phi e^{-\frac{1}{4}\phi_m V_{mn}^{-1}\phi_n} e^{-\hat{\rho}_m V_{mn}\hat{\rho}_n}.$$
 (2.7.3)

Next, we shift the bosonic fields $(\phi_m \to \phi_m + 2iV_{mn}\hat{\rho}_n)$ to decouple the interaction term

$$e^{\hat{\rho}_m V_{mn}\hat{\rho}_n} = \int D\phi e^{-\frac{1}{4}\phi_m V_{mn}^{-1}\phi_n} e^{-i\phi_m\hat{\rho}_m}.$$
 (2.7.4)

We have now traded the quartic term in ψ 's interaction term with a bilinear term coupled with an auxiliary bosonic field, which is called Hubbard-Stratonovich decoupling. This might seem more complicated, but the reason why we do this is that we can integrate over the quadratic fermionic term to get an effective bosonic theory. From this, we can find the stationary point conditions. Expanding from this we can find a Ginzburg Landau theory for the fluctuating fields. Above we decoupled in the direct channel, other choices for the decoupling are in the exchange channel and in the Cooper channel, shown in figure 2.1. The calculation remains exact regardless of the decoupling channel. However, once we approximate the integral in any way, the choice of the decoupling channel becomes crucial. To make the decoupling in the different channels clearer, we will look at the electron-electron interaction

$$S_{\rm int} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'} \int d\tau \int d^d r d^d r' \bar{\psi}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{r},\tau) \psi_{\sigma}(\mathbf{r}',\tau) V_{\sigma\sigma'}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') \bar{\psi}_{\sigma'}(\mathbf{r}',\tau) \psi_{\sigma'}(\mathbf{r},\tau)$$
(2.7.5)

where $\alpha = \beta = (\mathbf{r}, \tau, \sigma)$ and $\gamma = \delta = (\mathbf{r}', \tau, \sigma')$. Next, we consider the interaction term in momentum-space

$$S_{\rm int}[\bar{\psi},\psi] = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'} \sum_{k_1,\dots,k_4} \bar{\psi}_{\sigma,k_1} \bar{\psi}_{\sigma',k_3} V(\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2) \psi_{\sigma',k_4} \psi_{\sigma,k_2} \delta_{k_1 - k_2 + k_3 - k_4}, \qquad (2.7.6)$$

14



Figure 2.1: Decoupling of the interaction term where $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta$ refer to an unspecified set of quantum numbers, Matsubara frequencies, etc. The decoupling is in the direct channel (D), the exchange channel (X), and the Cooper channel (C)

where $k_i = (\mathbf{k}_i, \omega_i)$ are four-momentum consisting of the spacial momentum and the Matsubara frequencies. The summation over the four-momentum includes the sum over Matsubara frequencies and the spacial momentum, $\sum_k = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_k$. As stated in *Condensed matter field theory*[44], the physics that tends to be the most interesting, typically arises from processes in which one of the three unbounded momenta involved in the interaction vertex is small. Consequently, we break down the full momentum summation to a restricted summation over the small-momenta (q) sublayers

$$S_{\rm int}[\bar{\psi},\psi] \cong \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k,k',q} \left(-\bar{\psi}_{\sigma,k}\psi_{\sigma',k+q}V(\mathbf{k}'-\mathbf{k})\bar{\psi}_{\sigma',k'+q}\psi_{\sigma,k'} + \bar{\psi}_{\sigma,k}\psi_{\sigma',k'}\psi_{\sigma',k'-q} - \bar{\psi}_{\sigma,k}\bar{\psi}_{\sigma',-k+q}V(\mathbf{k}'-\mathbf{k})\psi_{\sigma,k'}\psi_{\sigma',-k'+q} \right),$$
(2.7.7)

where $|q| \ll |k|, |k'|$. It is now clearer that the decoupling in the different channels is

$$\hat{\rho}_{D,q} \sim \sum_{k} \bar{\psi}_{\sigma}(k) \psi_{\sigma}(k+q)$$
 The Direct Channel (D) , (2.7.8)

$$\hat{\rho}_{X,\sigma,\sigma',q} \sim \sum_{k} \bar{\psi}_{\sigma}(k) \psi_{\sigma'}(k+q)$$
 The Exchange Channel (X), (2.7.9)

$$\hat{\rho}_{C,\sigma,\sigma',q} \sim \sum_{k} \bar{\psi}_{\sigma}(k) \bar{\psi}_{\sigma'}(-k+q)$$
 The Cooper Channel (C). (2.7.10)

In chapter 3 we will look at an action to describe the charge density wave. This describes modulations of the charge density in the system. Hence, we want to decouple in the particle-hole channel, also called the direct channel. In chapter 4 we will include superconductivity in the system. This is described by a particle-pair, therefore, we need the decoupling to be in the particle-particle channel, the Cooper channel.



Figure 2.2: Electron energy with equally spaced ions at half-filling, where t = 1is used as the energy-scale. The energies of the electrons is here defined as $\epsilon_k = -2t \cos(ka)$



Figure 2.3: Electron energy when every second ion is displaced by the same amount in the same direction. A gap is induced at $ka = \pm \frac{\pi}{2}$.

2.8 Peierls instablity

Before starting on the main part of this thesis we want to establish a theory for CDWs in one dimension. In 1955 a German-British theoretical physicist Rudolf E. Peierls [1] derived the first known theory of this phenomenon. He stated that in a partially filled onedimensional metal, the regular chain can never be stable. Assuming half-filling $(2k_F = \pi/a)$, the argument goes as follows: by translating every second atom the same amount in the same direction, a new periodicity in the chain is introduced, $a \to 2a$, and the Brillouin zone is reduced to $-\frac{\pi}{2a} < k < \frac{\pi}{2a}$. This induces an energy gap at the new zone boundaries, $k_F = \frac{\pi}{2a}$ as shown in figure 2.3, which lowers the energy of each occupied state. In one dimension the decrease in electron energy is always smaller than the energy the ions gain by the distortion. This is why a $2k_F$ distortion occurs in the positions of the ions, which also induces a static charge density wave with the same periodicity. According to Pouget, the argument that Peierls gave for a half-filled band can easily be generalized to other fillings [48].

Chapter 3

Charge Density Waves in the Functional Integral Approach

In this chapter, the goal is to derive a Ginzburg-Landau theory for a system exhibiting a CDW phase. The theory will be derived using the formalism introduced in the preliminaries and follows the structure of Lundemo's specialization thesis[49]. Firstly, we will find an expression for the effective, bosonic action. Secondly, we will do a stationary phase analysis to find the mean-field state. As a next step, we will calculate the critical temperature of the system. Lastly, we will look at fluctuations around the mean field to derive a Ginzburg-Landau theory of the free energy for the system.

3.1 Effective action

We will start by introducing a general many-body Hamiltonian with a two-body interaction term. The Hamiltonian reads

$$H = \sum_{i,\sigma} (\epsilon_i - \mu) c_{i,\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{i,\sigma} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \sum_{i,j} V_{i,j}^{\alpha,\beta} n_{i,\alpha} n_{j,\beta}, \qquad (3.1.1)$$

where $n_{i,\alpha} \equiv c_{i,\alpha}^{\dagger} c_{i,\alpha}$ is the number operator for fermions at position \mathbf{r}_i and with spin α . The kinetic energy for a fermion at position \mathbf{r}_i is denoted as ϵ_i , and μ is the chemical potential in the system. The potential $V_{i,j}^{\alpha,\beta}$ describes the interaction between two fermions where one of them is at position \mathbf{r}_i with spin α , and the other one at \mathbf{r}_j with spin β . We will assume that this potential is spin-independent, $V_{i,j}^{\alpha,\beta} = V_{i,j}$. Moving on, we will express the Hamiltonian in Fourier space. In section 2.7 we stated that the physics of the CDW is best described with a decoupling of the interaction term in the particle-hole channel. Following the theory from this section, we rewrite the Hamiltonian in momentum space in the following way

$$H = \sum_{\mathbf{k},\sigma} (\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} - \mu) c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k},\sigma} c_{\mathbf{k},\sigma} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}',\mathbf{q}\\\sigma,\sigma'}} V(\mathbf{q}) c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{q}/2,\sigma} c_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{q}/2,\sigma} c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}'-\mathbf{q}/2,\sigma'} c_{\mathbf{k}'+\mathbf{q}/2,\sigma'}$$
(3.1.2)

where $\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{q}/2$ is the inertial momentum of the first fermion, $\mathbf{k}' + \mathbf{q}/2$ is the inertial momentum of the second fermion and \mathbf{q} is the exchanged momentum of the interaction.

The interaction term is shown in terms of a Feynmann diagram in figure 3.1. The full calculation of the Fourier transformation is shown in appendix C. Continuing, we will



Figure 3.1: The interaction term illustrated by a Feynmann-diagram

need the action of the system

$$S[\bar{\psi}, \psi] = \sum_{k,\sigma} \bar{\psi}_{k,\sigma} [-i\omega_n + \xi_{\mathbf{k}}] \psi_{k,\sigma} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'} \sum_{q,k,k'} V(q) \bar{\psi}_{k+q/2,\sigma} \psi_{k-q/2,\sigma} \bar{\psi}_{k'-q/2,\sigma'} \psi_{k'+q/2,\sigma'},$$
(3.1.3)

where ψ is a Grassmann field, ω_n the Matsubara frequency and $\xi_k = \epsilon_k - \mu$ is the kinetic energy minus the chemical potential. The spatial momentum and the Matsubara frequency are written in terms of the compact notation, $k = (\mathbf{k}, \omega_n)$. The next step is to use the theory we introduced in the preliminaries and express the partition function as a functional integral,

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi e^{-S[\bar{\psi},\psi]}.$$
(3.1.4)

Proceeding, we will decouple the interaction term in equation (3.1.3). In order to do this, we introduce the auxiliary field, κ . The first thing to note is that we assume that κ is only dependent on the relative momentum q in the interaction term¹. Secondly, we assume κ to be a real field. It can be shown that by starting with a complex auxiliary field, the result will effectively be a real field coupled to the fermionic field operators. The field κ is in fact the order parameter of the charge density wave phase transition. According to the phenomenological theory by Landau [50] we have that an order parameter for a phase transition is defined as a quantity that vanishes in the disordered phase and is non-zero in the ordered phase. Hence, the order parameter is a quantity that measures ordering in a system below its critical temperature. Having established the properties of the order parameter κ , we introduce the measure

$$\mathbb{1} = \int \mathcal{D}\kappa \exp\left(-\sum_{q} \frac{\kappa(q)\kappa(-q)}{V(q)}\right). \tag{3.1.5}$$

¹By starting with a field dependent on both the relative momentum and the center of mass momentum, $\phi(k,q)$, it can be shown that the center of mass momentum can be summed over, $\kappa(q) = \sum_k \phi(k,q)$. Thus, we are left with a field only dependent on the relative momentum, $\kappa(q)$.



Figure 3.2: The incoming fermion with momentum $\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{q}/2$ and outgoing $\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{q}/2$ and an auxiliary field $\kappa(q)$ which decouples quartic the interaction.

Since κ is real, it can also be shown that it is symmetric around zero in momentum space, $\kappa(-q) = \kappa(q)$. We will keep the signs in the bosonic term to shift the fields in such a way, that the quartic term in the action cancels. The shift is as follows

$$\kappa(q) \to \tilde{\kappa}(q) \equiv \kappa(q) - \frac{1}{2} V(q) \sum_{k,\sigma} \bar{\psi}_{k+q/2,\sigma} \psi_{k-q/2,\sigma}.$$
(3.1.6)

Inserting the shifted measure into equation (3.1.4) gives the partition function with the decoupled action

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi \int \mathcal{D}[\kappa] e^{-\tilde{S}[\bar{\psi},\psi,\kappa]}, \qquad (3.1.7)$$

where the decoupled action \tilde{S} reads

$$\tilde{S}[\bar{\psi},\psi,\kappa] = \sum_{k,\sigma} \bar{\psi}_{k,\sigma} [-\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}(k)] \psi_{k,\sigma} + \sum_q \frac{\kappa(q)\kappa(q)}{V(q)} - \sum_{k,q,\sigma} \kappa(q) \bar{\psi}_{k-q/2,\sigma} \psi_{k+q/2,\sigma}.$$
 (3.1.8)

The action contains three different terms. The first term is the non-interacting energy for the fermions, where we have defined the bare Greens function $\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}(k) \equiv i\omega_n - \xi_k$. The second term is the non-interacting boson energy, and the last term is fermionic fields coupled to a bosonic field, which is illustrated with a Feynmann diagram in figure 3.2. The next step is to integrate over the fermionic fields. This is calculated in equation (2.4.4) in the preliminaries. Thus, we first want to structure the fermionic action as,

$$S_f[\bar{\psi}, \psi, \kappa] = \sum_{\sigma} \sum_{k_1, k_2} \bar{\psi}_{k_1, \sigma}[-(\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1})_{k_1, k_2}]\psi_{k_2, \sigma}, \qquad (3.1.9)$$

where we defined the dressed Greens function as $\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1} = \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{-1} + \hat{\kappa}$. Note that $\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}, \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{-1}$ and $\hat{\kappa}$ are now defined as operators in momentum space. The bare Green function \mathcal{G}_0^{-1} is diagonal in momentum space, and the elements are defined as $(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0)_{k,k'} \equiv \mathcal{G}_0(k)\delta_{k,k'}$. Whereas, the elements of the bosonic field operator are off-diagonal and defined as $(\hat{\kappa})_{k,k'} \equiv \kappa(k'-k)$ and we have that $\kappa(0) = 0$. Moving on, we integrate over the fermionic fields

$$\int \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi e^{-\sum_{k,q,\sigma}\bar{\psi}_{k-q/2,\sigma}[-(\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1})_{k-q/2,k+q/2}]\psi_{k+q/2,\sigma}} = \det(-\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}).$$
(3.1.10)

The effective action can be written as

$$S_{\text{eff}}[\kappa] = \sum_{q} \frac{\kappa(q)\kappa(q)}{V(q)} - \operatorname{tr}\ln(-\beta\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}), \qquad (3.1.11)$$

where we used the identity introduced in preliminaries, det $\mathbf{A} = e^{\operatorname{tr} \ln \mathbf{A}}$. Note that we have multiplied the dressed Greens function with β to make the argument in the trace-log dimensionless. Another thing to note is that the trace is in the momentum space *and* spin space. We have now found an expression for the effective action and are ready to proceed to the stationary phase analysis.

3.2 Stationary phase analysis

In this section, we want to derive a self-consistent equation for the mean field of $\hat{\kappa}$. Peierls stated in 1955 [1] that charge density waves in one dimension are expected to arise at $\mathbf{q} = 2\mathbf{k}_F$. In higher dimensions, one of the theories for CDWs is given by Fermi surface nesting [51]. These are also characterized by $\mathbf{q} = 2\mathbf{k}_F$. Hong Yao et. al. [52] studied a quasi-two-dimensional system with $\mathbf{q} = (2\mathbf{k}_F, 2\mathbf{k}_F)$, which described CDWs formed as stripes. In light of this, we fix the momentum at $2\mathbf{k}_F$ to find an equation for the mean field of the CDW order parameter. In this analysis, we are not interested in the dynamics of the order parameter and therefore set the respective Matsuabara frequency to zero, $\omega_v = 0$. To find a self-consistent equation for the mean field, we differentiate the action with respect to $\kappa(2k_F)$. We introduce the four-vector $2k_F \equiv (2\mathbf{k}_F, 0)$ to simplify the notation. The equation for the mean field is

$$0 \stackrel{!}{=} \frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}}{\delta \kappa(2k_F)} = 2V^{-1}(2k_F)\kappa(2k_F) - \frac{\delta}{\delta \kappa(2k_F)} \operatorname{tr}\ln(-\beta \hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}), \qquad (3.2.1)$$

where $\delta_{\kappa(2\mathbf{k}_F)}S_{\text{eff}}$ is the functional differentiation of the effective action. Moving on, we will look closer at the last term. Due to the trace, we can treat the operator as a function when differentiating². This allows us to write the last term as

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\operatorname{tr}\ln(-\beta\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}) = \operatorname{tr}\left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}\frac{\delta\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\right].$$
(3.2.2)

Calculating the trace gives us

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}\frac{\delta\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\right] = 2\sum_{k} \left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}\frac{\delta\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\right]_{k,k} = 2\sum_{k,k_1}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{k,k_1}\left[\frac{\delta\hat{\kappa}}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\right]_{k_1,k},\tag{3.2.3}$$

²Having an operator $\hat{A}(x)$ depending on a parameter x and an arbitrary function $f(\hat{A})$ we can write

$$\delta_x \operatorname{tr}[f(\hat{A})] = \delta_x \sum_n \frac{f^{(n)}(0)}{n!} \operatorname{tr}(\hat{A}^n) = \sum_n \frac{f(n)(0)}{n!} \operatorname{tr}[(\delta_x \hat{A}) \hat{A}^{n-1} + \hat{A}(\delta_x \hat{A}) \hat{A}^{n-2} + \dots + \hat{A}^{n-1} \delta_x \hat{A}]$$
$$= \sum_n \frac{n}{n!} f^{(n)}(0) \operatorname{tr}[\hat{A}^{(n-1)}(\delta_x \hat{A})] = \operatorname{tr}[f'(\hat{A}) \delta_x \hat{A}]$$

where the factor 2 comes from the spin-summation in the trace. Before proceeding, we want to emphasize how the differentiation of $\hat{\kappa}$ is done. The first thing to note is that $\hat{\kappa}$ is an operator which can be written as a matrix. The matrix elements of κ are $(\hat{\kappa})_{k,k'} = \kappa(k'-k)$, as defined earlier. Therefore, the derivative with respect to $\kappa(2k_F)$ will give a matrix with 1 wherever $k'-k = 2k_F$, and zero otherwise. Hence, we have that $\left[\frac{\delta \hat{\kappa}}{\delta \kappa(2\mathbf{k}_F,\omega_v=0)}\right]_{k_{1,k}} = \delta_{2\mathbf{k}_F,\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}_1}\delta_{\omega_n,\omega_{n_1}}$. This gives

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}\frac{\delta\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1}}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\right] = 2\sum_{k,k_1}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{k,k_1}\delta_{2k_F,k-k_1} = 2\sum_{\mathbf{k}}\sum_{\omega_n}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{k,k-2k_F}.$$
(3.2.4)

The stationary phase condition for $\hat{\kappa}$ can be found by plugging this back into equation (3.2.1)

$$2\kappa(2k_F) = 2V(2k_F) \sum_{k} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{k,k-2k_F}.$$
(3.2.5)

One solution to the equation is that $\kappa(2k_F) = 0$, because we have that $\hat{\mathcal{G}}^{-1} = [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{-1} + \hat{\kappa}]^{-1}$, and \mathcal{G}_0 is diagonal in momentum space. Next, we are interested to look at solutions for $\Delta(2k_F) \neq 0$ to equation (3.2.5).

From the definition of $\hat{\mathcal{G}}$ we can derive a Dyson-like equation. We can use Feynmann diagrams to illustrate the equation, with the following symbols

$$\kappa = \langle \hat{\mathcal{G}} \rangle, \quad \hat{\mathcal{G}} = = = = = , \quad \mathcal{G}_0 = - - - .$$

The Dyson-like equation for the dressed Greens-function is

Critical temperature In addition to the mean field, we can derive the critical temperature from the stationary phase equation (3.2.5). Before we explain how the critical temperature is defined we will expand the dressed Greens function in κ . This is due to the fact that close to the critical temperature, we assume that the order parameter is approaching zero. The expansion to first order reads

$$\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{k,k-2k_F} = \left([1 + \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0 \hat{\kappa}]^{-1} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0 \right)_{k,k-2k_F} = (\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0)_{k,k-2k_F} - [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0 \hat{\kappa} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{k,k-2k_F} + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\kappa}^3).$$
(3.2.7)

Since $\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0$ is diagonal in k, the first term is zero, and we have that

$$\kappa(2k_F) = -V(2k_F) \sum_k \mathcal{G}_0(k)\kappa(2k_F)\mathcal{G}_0(k-2k_F) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^3).$$
(3.2.8)

Dividing by $\kappa(2k_F)$ gives

$$1 = -V(2k_F) \sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_0(k) \mathcal{G}_0(k - 2k_F) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2).$$
(3.2.9)

21

From this equation, we can find an expression for the critical temperature. It is defined as the temperature which makes the charge density (Lindhard) susceptibility diverge. The susceptibility for particle-hole fluctuations is proportional to $[1 + V(2k_F) \sum_k \mathcal{G}_0(k)\mathcal{G}_0(k - 2k_F)]^{-1}$.

Remark By including particle-hole fluctuations we can find an expression for an effective potential. This potential is defined as $V_{eff} = \chi V_0$, where χ is defined as the susceptibility. To find an expression for χ , we can illustrate the effective potential in terms of a series of Feynmann diagrams

where the double wiggly line is the effective potential V_{eff} , the single wiggly line is the bare potential V and the bubble is particle-hole bubble K. We have focused on only the simple bubbles, which is an approximation but will quantitatively give the correct result. Pulling out a factor of the bare potential we can see that it is a geometric series, which can be expressed as

$$= \operatorname{constant}\left(1 + \operatorname{constant}\right) + \operatorname{constant}\right) = \frac{\operatorname{constant}}{1 - \operatorname{constant}}.$$
 (3.2.11)

From this, we can identify an expression for how easy pair fluctuations can arise. This known as the susceptibility, $\chi_{ph} = [1 - VK]^{-1}$.

For this system, we have that $\chi_{ph} \propto [1 + V(2k_F) \sum_k \mathcal{G}_0(k) \mathcal{G}_0(k - 2k_F)]^{-1}$. To derive an expression for the critical temperature we will perform the k-summations over the bare Greens functions. The sum can be written as

$$\sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_0(k) \mathcal{G}_0(k-2k_F) = \sum_{k} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n - \xi_k)} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n - \xi_{k-2k_F})}$$
(3.2.12)

Rewriting this, and summing over the Matsubara frequencies, we get

$$\sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}) = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{1}{\xi_{\mathbf{k}} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_{F}}} \sum_{n} \left[\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_{F}}} \right]$$
(3.2.13)

$$=\beta \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{1}{\xi_{\mathbf{k}} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_{F}}} \left[\frac{1}{1 + e^{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}} - \frac{1}{1 + e^{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_{F}}}} \right].$$
 (3.2.14)

The calculation of the sum over the Matsubara frequencies is shown in appendix D. To proceed, we will linearize the energies

$$\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} = \epsilon_F + \mathbf{v}_F(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}_F) + \mathcal{O}(\mathbf{k}^2). \tag{3.2.15}$$

22

Using this we can find the linearization of $\xi_{\mathbf{k}}$ and $\xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_F}$

$$\xi_{\mathbf{k}} = \epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} - \mu \approx v_F(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}_F) \tag{3.2.16}$$

$$\xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_F} = \epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} - \mu + 2\epsilon_F - 2v_F \mathbf{k} \approx -v_F (\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}_F) \approx -\xi_{\mathbf{k}}, \qquad (3.2.17)$$

where we can see that $\xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_F} \approx -\xi_{\mathbf{k}}$. Before proceeding, we must emphasize that the last transition in equation (3.2.17) is only valid for the energies close to the fermi level, which is ensured by a cut-off of the integral. Inserting this back into the expression for the particle-hole bubble (3.2.14), we get

$$\sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}) \approx \beta \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{1}{2\xi_{k}} \left[\frac{1}{1+\mathrm{e}^{\beta\xi_{k}}} - \frac{1}{1+\mathrm{e}^{-\beta\xi_{k}}} \right]$$
$$\approx -2\beta D_{F} \int_{0}^{\omega_{c}} d\xi \frac{\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)}{2\xi}, \qquad (3.2.18)$$

where ω_C is the upper limit for where the linearization is valid. We have approximated the **k**-summation to an energy integral. In the transition to an energy integral, we have used that $\sum_{\mathbf{k}} f(\xi_k) = \int d\xi D(\xi) f(\xi)$. The density of states is defined as $D(\xi) = \frac{1}{V_{sys}} \sum_k \delta(\xi - \xi_k)$, where V_{sys} is the volume of the system. By using this, the calculation will still be exact, but we will approximate the density of states by its value on the fermi-surface, $D(\xi) \approx D_F$. This gives

$$1 = V(2k_F)\beta D_F \int_0^{\omega_c} d\xi \frac{\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)}{\xi}.$$
(3.2.19)

We will write the β - and N-dependence in the potential explicitly and define the potential at $2k_F$ as $V(2k_F) = (N\beta)^{-1}V_{2k_F}$. The factor $(N\beta)^{-1}$ comes from Fourier transforms. In order to make the equation explicitly independent of the system size, we can write the density of states as $D_F = N_F/V$. This gives

$$1 = V_{2k_F} N_F \int_0^{\omega_c} d\xi \frac{\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)}{\xi}.$$
 (3.2.20)

We can observe that this is the same equation as for the critical temperature for the BCS superconductor. This might be surprising as they are critical phenomena in two different channels. CDWs happen in the particle-hole channel and SC in the particle-particle channel. Proceeding, we will assume that the critical temperature is small. Hence, the integral will be

$$\int_{0}^{\omega_{c}} d\xi \frac{\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)}{\xi} = \int_{0}^{\frac{\beta\omega_{c}}{2}} d\xi \frac{\tanh(x)}{x} \approx \ln\left(\frac{\beta\omega_{C}}{2C}\right), \qquad (3.2.21)$$

where $C = \frac{\pi}{4} e^{-\gamma}$ and γ is the Euler-Mascheroni constant³. The critical temperature can be expressed as

$$k_B T_C = \frac{2\omega_C}{\pi} \mathrm{e}^{\gamma} e^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}}, \qquad (3.2.22)$$

³Euler-Mascheroni constant, $\gamma = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{1}{k} - \ln n\right) \approx 0.577215...$

where $\lambda = V(2k_F)\beta D_F$. From this, we can observe that with a positive potential, the critical temperature converges logarithmic to zero when the magnitude of the potential increases. The expression for the critical temperature has the same form as in the BCS theory. According to Plakida, this points to a purely Coloumb nature of the particle-hole interaction [53].

3.3 Ginzburg-Landau theory for fluctuations

Next, we want to look at how the system behaves for small fluctuations around the mean field. The idea is that there is a static charge density wave at $\mathbf{q} = 2\mathbf{k}_F$, and in addition to this, there is now a slowly varying field. Therefore, we define $\kappa(q)$ as the sum of the mean field plus a fluctuating field. Hence, we have that

$$\kappa(2k_F - q) = \kappa_{\rm MF}(2k_F) + \eta(2k_F - q)^T \stackrel{T \to T_C}{=} \eta(q'), \qquad (3.3.1)$$

where we defined $q' = (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}, 0)$ as the argument in η . We have used that the meanfield value approaches zero as $T \to T_C$ from below. Note that we are aiming for a timeindependent theory, and therefore only look at fluctuations in the spacial momentum. The main principle of the Ginzburg-Landau theory is to expand the free energy around the system's normal state. Following this theory, this system's free energy can be modeled as

$$\beta F[\eta] - \beta F_{MF} = \int d^d r \left[\alpha_1 |\eta|^2 + \gamma |\nabla \eta|^2 + \alpha_2 |\eta|^4 + \cdots \right], \qquad (3.3.2)$$

where α_i and γ are phenomenological constants, and η is the order parameter. In this section, we assume that the spatial fluctuations are small, and therefore neglect higher-order gradient terms. The phenomenological constants contain information about the system, and for this reason, the main goal of this section is to give an explicit expression for α_1, α_2 , and γ . In general, we could have odd powers of the order parameter in the free energy. This would mean that $F[\eta] \neq F[-\eta]$, which in turn indicates that a spatial translation of the charge density wave would change the free energy. In addition to this argument, we will later show that this also holds mathematically. At the end of this section, we will show that the higher-order terms are negligible.

The partition function can generally⁴ be written as $Z = \sum_{n} e^{-\beta F_n}$, where we sum over all possible states *n*. By comparing this with the partition function expressed in terms of the action, we can write

$$S_{\text{eff}} = S_{\text{MF}} + \beta F[\eta]. \tag{3.3.3}$$

The mean-field action will be $S_{\rm MF} \equiv -\operatorname{tr} \ln \left[-\beta \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{-1} \right]$, and does not provide any relevant information for us in this consideration. This is because we are only interested in the physics of the fluctuating fields. To separate the mean-field action from the terms that we are interested in, we make use of the fact that $\operatorname{tr} \ln \left[-\beta (\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{-1} + \hat{\eta}) \right] = \operatorname{tr} \ln \left[-\beta \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{-1} \right] + 1$

⁴From thermodynamics we have that the partition function can be written as $Z_g = e^{\beta pV}$. We also have that $pV = G - F = \mu N - F$, which for our case will be pV = F.
$\operatorname{tr}\ln[\mathbb{1}+\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0\hat{\eta}]$. This gives us that the free energy for η is

$$\beta F[\eta] = \sum_{q'} V^{-1}(q')\eta(q')\eta(q') - \operatorname{tr}\left[\ln\left(\mathbb{1} + \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0\hat{\eta}\right)\right]$$
(3.3.4)

using the action from equation (3.1.11). To proceed, we will use the assumption that η is sufficiently small. This allows us to expand the last term using the following expansion

$$\ln(1+x) = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{k} x^k \text{ for } |x| < 1.$$
(3.3.5)

Using this, the expansion of the trace-log can be written as

$$-\mathrm{tr}\left[-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\frac{(-1)^{k}}{k}\left(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}\hat{\eta}\right)^{k}\right] = -\mathrm{tr}[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}\hat{\eta}] + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}\hat{\eta}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}\hat{\eta}] + \mathcal{O}(\eta^{3}).$$
(3.3.6)

3.3.1 First order

Starting off with the first-order term, we have that

$$-\mathrm{tr}[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0\hat{\eta}] = -\sum_k [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0\hat{\eta}]_{k,k} = -\sum_{k,k_1} (\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0)_{k,k_1} (\hat{\eta})_{k_1,k} = 0$$
(3.3.7)

Using that $\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0$ is a diagonal matrix and that η only contains off-diagonal matrix elements, we see that this term is zero.

3.3.2 Second order

For the second-order term, we will do a similar calculation

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}\hat{\eta}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}\hat{\eta}] = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{k_{1},k_{2} \\ k_{3},k_{4}}} (\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0})_{k_{1},k_{2}}(\hat{\eta})_{k_{2},k_{3}}(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0})_{k_{3},k_{4}}(\hat{\eta})_{k_{4},k_{1}} \\
= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k,q'} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k)\eta(q')\mathcal{G}_{0}(k-q')\eta(q').$$
(3.3.8)

Here, we used that $(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0)_{k,k'} = \mathcal{G}_0(k)\delta_{k,k'}$, $\hat{\eta}_{k,k'} = \eta(k'-k)$, and renamed the summation momenta to be on the desired form. This gives us the expression for the free energy to second order in η

$$\beta F[\eta] = \sum_{q'} V^{-1}(q')\eta(q')\eta(q') + \sum_{k,q'} \mathcal{G}_0(k)\eta(q')\mathcal{G}_0(k-q')\eta(q').$$
(3.3.9)

For each q we can express the last term with a Feynmann diagram

where the wiggly line represents the bosonic field, and the straight line the bare Greens function. The bubble is commonly referred to as a particle-hole-bubble, where we can see that it transfers the momentum q'. We want to remind the reader that the momentum q' is the momentum of the static CDW minus a small momentum q. To proceed with our calculation we will assume that q is small, which means that we only have long-waved fluctuations deviating from the static CDW.

Expansion in q

To derive an expression for the phenomenological constant we will do an expansion of the bare Greens function. Since the theory is time-independent, we only expand in the spatial part. We have that $q' = (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}, 0)$, and the expansion will therefore be in \mathbf{q} . Expanding $\xi_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{q}'}$, gives

$$\xi_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{q}'} = \xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_F+\mathbf{q}} = \xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_F} + \frac{2(\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_F)\mathbf{q}}{2m^*} + \mathcal{O}(\mathbf{q}^2) \approx -\xi_{\mathbf{k}} + \tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q}, \qquad (3.3.11)$$

where $\tilde{\mathbf{v}} = \frac{\mathbf{k}}{m^*} - 2\mathbf{v}_F$, m^* is an effective mass and we used the linearization from equation (3.2.17). We emphasize that the last transition is only valid as long as the linearization of the energy $\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}}$ is valid. To derive the expression for the coefficients α_1 and γ we start by rewriting the following expression

$$\sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k - 2k_{F} + q) = \sum_{k} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right) \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + \xi_{\mathbf{k}} - \tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q}} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{k} \frac{1}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}} - \tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q}} \left[\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + \xi_{\mathbf{k}} - \tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q}} \right].$$
(3.3.12)

Expanding the Greens functions to second order in $\tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q}$, gives

$$\sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}+q) \approx \sum_{k} \left\{ \frac{1}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right) + \tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q} \left[\frac{1}{4\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right) - \frac{1}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} \right] + (\tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q})^{2} \left[\frac{1}{8\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^{3}} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right) - \frac{1}{4\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^{2}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} - \frac{1}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{3}} \right] \right\}. \quad (3.3.13)$$

Moving on, we will calculate the Matsubara frequency sums. An elegant formula for calculating the sum over $(i\omega_n - \xi)^{-m}$ for fermions is given in appendix D. The formula is

$$\sum_{n \in \mathcal{Z}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n - \xi)^m} = \frac{\beta}{(m-1)!} \partial_{\xi}^{m-1} f(\xi), \qquad (3.3.14)$$

where $f(\xi) = \frac{1}{\exp(\beta\xi)+1}$ is the Fermi-Dirac distribution. The Matsubara sums we need are

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{i\omega_n \pm \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{\beta}{e^{\mp\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + 1},\tag{3.3.15}$$

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n + \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^2} = \frac{\beta}{1!} \partial_{\xi} f(-\xi) = -\frac{\beta^2}{4} \operatorname{sech}^2(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}), \qquad (3.3.16)$$

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n + \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^3} = -\frac{\beta^3}{8} \tanh(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}) \operatorname{sech}^2(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}).$$
(3.3.17)

Proceeding, we will first evaluate the term that is independent of \mathbf{q} . This is in fact the same integral as we had in equation (3.2.18) in the stationary phase analysis. Hence,

$$\alpha_{1} = \sum_{k} \frac{1}{2\xi_{k}} \left[\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - \xi_{k}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + \xi_{k}} \right] = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\beta}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \left[\frac{1}{e^{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + 1} - \frac{1}{e^{-\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + 1} \right]$$
$$= -\sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\beta}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) = -D_{F}\beta \int_{0}^{\omega_{C}} \frac{\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)}{\xi}.$$
(3.3.18)

The next term we want to calculate is the term linear in \mathbf{q} . This needs a bit more consideration due to the dot product. First, we calculate the Matsubara sum,

$$\sum_{k} \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q}}{2\xi_{k}} \left[\frac{-1}{(i\omega_{n} + \xi_{k})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\xi_{k}} \left[\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - \xi_{k}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + \xi_{k}} \right] \right]$$
$$= \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q}}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \left[-\frac{\beta^{2}}{4} \operatorname{sech}^{2} \left(\frac{\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2} \right) + \frac{\beta}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \tanh \left(\frac{\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2} \right) \right].$$
(3.3.19)

Next, we want to change the k-sum to an energy integral. Before doing so, we will need to perform the angular integral over \hat{k} . We have that $\tilde{\mathbf{v}} = \frac{\mathbf{k}}{2m^*} - 2\mathbf{v}_F$. We therefore only integrate over \hat{k} , which gives $q_i k_i \int \frac{d\Omega}{4\pi} \hat{k}_i = 0$. Hence, equation (3.3.19) is now

$$\frac{D_F \beta \mathbf{k}_F \cdot \mathbf{q}}{8m^*} \int_{-\omega_C}^{\omega_C} d\xi \frac{-\xi \beta + \sinh\left(\xi\right)}{\xi^2} \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\xi}{2}\right) = 0, \qquad (3.3.20)$$

which is zero because of the anti-symmetric integrand.

The next term will be the quadratic them in \mathbf{q} . Using the Matsubara sums (3.3.15), (3.3.16) and (3.3.17) we get the following result

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{(\tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q})^2}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \left[\frac{1}{4\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^2} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_n - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_n + \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right) - \frac{1}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n + \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^2} - \frac{1}{(i\omega_n + \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^3} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \beta \frac{(\tilde{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \mathbf{q})^2}{16\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^3} \left[-\sinh\left(\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}\right) + \beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}} + \beta^2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^2 \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) \right] \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right). \quad (3.3.21)$$

The angular integral over k reads,

$$\int \frac{d\Omega}{4\pi} \left((\mathbf{k} - 2\mathbf{k}_F) \cdot \mathbf{q} \right)^2 = k_i k_j q_i q_j \int \frac{d\Omega}{4\pi} \hat{k}_i \hat{k}_j + 4\mathbf{k}_F^2 \mathbf{q}^2 = \frac{1}{3} \delta_{i,j} q_i q_j k_i k_j + 4\mathbf{k}_F^2 \mathbf{q}^2, \quad (3.3.22)$$

where the cross-term will be zero when doing the angular integral. This gives

$$\mathbf{q}^{2} \frac{\beta D_{F}}{16(m^{*})^{2}} \int_{-\omega_{c}}^{\omega_{c}} d\xi \left(\frac{\mathbf{k}^{2}}{3} + 4\mathbf{k}_{F}^{2}\right) \frac{1}{\xi^{3}} \left[-\sinh\left(\beta\xi\right) + \beta\xi + \beta^{2}\xi^{2} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)\right] \operatorname{sech}^{2} \left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right).$$
(3.3.23)

We will now look closer at the expression

$$\frac{1}{16(m^*)^2} \left(\frac{\mathbf{k}^2}{3} + 4\mathbf{k}_F^2\right) = \frac{1}{24m^*} (\xi_{\mathbf{k}} + \mu) + \frac{v_F^2}{4} = \frac{1}{24m^*} \xi_{\mathbf{k}} + \frac{13}{48} v_F^2.$$
(3.3.24)

The term multiplied by $\xi_{\mathbf{k}}$ is zero due to the anti-symmetry of the total integrand. We are then left with

$$\mathbf{q}^{2} v_{F}^{2} D_{F} \beta \frac{13}{48} \int_{-\omega_{c}}^{\omega_{c}} d\xi \frac{1}{\xi^{3}} \left[-\sinh\left(\beta\xi\right) + \beta\xi + \beta^{2}\xi^{2} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \right] \operatorname{sech}^{2} \left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right). \quad (3.3.25)$$

The integral is not possible to solve analytically, but numerically we can see that it is positive. The expression for the free energy to second order in η is

$$\beta F[\eta] \approx \sum_{\mathbf{q}} \alpha_1 \eta (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}) \eta (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}) + \gamma \mathbf{q}^2 \eta (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}) \eta (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}), \qquad (3.3.26)$$

where the coefficients α_1 and γ are given by

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{N\beta}{V_{2\mathbf{k}_F}} - D_F \beta \int_0^{\omega_C} d\xi \frac{\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)}{\xi}$$
(3.3.27)

$$\gamma = v_F^2 D_F \beta \frac{13}{24} \int_0^{\omega_c} d\xi \frac{1}{\xi^3} \left[-\sinh\left(\beta\xi_k\right) + \beta\xi + \beta^2\xi^2 \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \right] \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right). \quad (3.3.28)$$

We have used the fact that the potential is a constant for small \mathbf{q} , $V(2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}) \approx (N\beta)^{-1}V_{2\mathbf{k}_F}$. Note that we can evaluate the integrals in the coefficients at low temperatures. This is already done for α_1 in the section 3.2, about the stationary phase analysis. For γ , we will let $\omega_C \to \infty$ and solve the two integrals separately [49]

$$\gamma_1 = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} \left[\beta\xi - \sinh\left(\beta\xi_k\right)\right] \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) = -\frac{\beta^2}{2\pi^2}\zeta(3, 1/2) \tag{3.3.29}$$

$$\gamma_2 = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\xi}{\xi} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) = \frac{7}{\pi^2}\zeta(3), \qquad (3.3.30)$$

where ζ is the Riemann Zeta function[54]. The resulting coefficient we will get for γ is

$$\gamma = v_F^2 D_F \beta^3 \frac{13}{48\pi^2} \zeta(3, 1/2). \tag{3.3.31}$$

This tells us that at low temperatures γ is proportional to T^{-3} . Furthermore, we can see that at the critical temperature, α_1 will change sign. We can therefore solve the equation $\alpha_1 = 0$ to find this temperature, which will be the same equation as we found for T_C in the stationary phase analysis. The potential can be expressed in terms of the critical temperature using equation (3.2.22). Inserting this into α_1 , we get

$$\alpha_{1} = N\beta N_{F} \int_{0}^{\omega_{C}} \frac{d\xi}{\xi} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta_{C}\xi}{2}\right) - D_{F}\beta \int_{0}^{\omega_{C}} \frac{d\xi}{\xi} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)$$
$$= \beta D_{F} \int_{0}^{\omega_{C}} \frac{d\xi}{\xi} \operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{\beta_{C}\xi}{2}\right) \operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \sinh\left(\frac{\beta_{C} - \beta}{2}\xi\right)$$
(3.3.32)

We will next assume that T is close to the critical temperature T_C

$$\alpha_1 = \beta D_F \int_0^{\omega_C} d\xi \operatorname{sech}^2 \left(\frac{\beta_C \xi}{2}\right) \frac{\beta_C - \beta}{2}$$
$$= D_F \frac{\beta}{\beta_C} (\beta_C - \beta) \tanh\left(\frac{\beta_C \omega_C}{2}\right) \propto (T - T_C)$$
(3.3.33)

We will therefore write $\alpha_1 = \alpha'_1(T - T_C)$. Whenever $T < T_C$, α_1 is negative, and it is favorable to create CDWs in the system. Hence, we have an unstable system. To ensure stability below T_C , we need to include higher-order terms.

3.3.3 Third order

The third order of the expansion will be

$$-\frac{1}{3} \operatorname{tr}[\mathcal{G}_0 \eta \mathcal{G}_0 \eta \mathcal{G}_0 \eta]$$

= $-\frac{1}{3} \sum_{k_1, k_2, k_3} \mathcal{G}_0(k_1) \eta (-(2k_F - q_1)) \mathcal{G}_0(k_1 - 2k_F + q_1) \eta (2k_F - q_2)$
 $\mathcal{G}_0(k_1 + q_1 - q_2) \eta (2k_F + k_1 + q_2).$ (3.3.34)

We will assume that $q_i \ll k$, and the Greens functions will just depend on k. The coefficient of the third-order term is

$$\sum_{k} (\mathcal{G}_{0}(k))^{2} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}) = \sum_{k} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} \frac{1}{i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}.$$
 (3.3.35)

When doing the k-summation, it can be shown that it will be zero due to the symmetry of the Green function.

3.3.4 Fourth order

The calculation of the trace is done in the same manner as for the second and third order. Thus, we will just state the result

$$\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr}[(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}\hat{\eta})^{4}] = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}+q_{1}) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k+q_{1}-q_{2}) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}-q_{4})$$

$$\eta_{2k_{F}-q_{1}}\eta_{2k_{F}-q_{2}}\eta_{2k_{F}-q_{3}}\eta_{2k_{F}-q_{4}}\delta_{q_{1}-q_{2}+q_{3}-q_{4},0}, \qquad (3.3.36)$$

where we have used that η is symmetric in its argument. Since q is assumed to be small compared to \mathbf{k} and \mathbf{k}_F , we have that $\mathcal{G}_0(k - 2k_F - q_i) \approx \mathcal{G}_0(k - 2k_F)$. The fourth-order term is

$$\approx \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \sum_{\substack{q_1', q_2' \\ q_3', q_4'}} (\mathcal{G}_0(k))^2 (\mathcal{G}_0(k-2k_F))^2 \eta_{q_1'} \eta_{q_2'} \eta_{q_3'} \eta_{q_4'} \delta_{q_1-q_2+q_3-q_4},$$

where we changed back to the q' notation, $q' = (2\mathbf{k}_F - q, 0)$, to make the equations more compact. Moving on, we will approximate $\xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_F}$ in the same way as we did for the second-order term, which gives the

$$\sum_{k} (\mathcal{G}_{0}(k))^{2} (\mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}))^{2} = \sum_{k} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}-2\mathbf{k}_{F}})^{2}} \approx \sum_{k} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} = \sum_{k} \frac{1}{4\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^{3}} \left[\frac{1}{i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right] + \sum_{k} \frac{1}{4\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^{2}} \left[\frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} + \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} \right]. \quad (3.3.37)$$

Summing over the Matsubara frequencies

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\beta}{4(\xi_{\mathbf{k}})^3} \tanh\left(\beta\frac{\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) - \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{1}{4\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^2} \frac{\beta^2}{4} \left[\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) + \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right)\right]$$
$$= \frac{\beta}{8} D_F \int_{-\omega_C}^{\omega_C} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} (\sinh(\beta\xi) - \beta\xi) \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)$$
(3.3.38)

where we have used that $\sum_{n} [i\omega_n - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}]^2 = -\frac{\beta^2}{4} \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right)$. This gives that the coefficient α_2 is

$$\alpha_2 = \frac{\beta}{8} D_F \int_0^{\omega_C} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} (\sinh(\beta\xi) - \beta\xi) \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right), \qquad (3.3.39)$$

This can not be solved analytically, but it can be shown that it is positive. We can notice, that this is the same integral as calculated in (3.3.29), which means that the low-temperature limit is

$$\alpha_2 = \frac{\beta^3}{8\pi^2} D_F \zeta(3, 1/2) \tag{3.3.40}$$

Due to the positive coefficient, the fourth-order term counterbalances the second-order term and ensures the stability of the system, as long as the higher-order terms are sufficiently small or positive.

3.3.5 Higher order

Following the same arguments as for the first and third-order terms, it follows that all odd terms will be zero. However, for the even terms, the 2lth-power term is given as,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{(-1)^{2l}}{2l}\left(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}\hat{\eta}\right)^{2l}\right] = 2\frac{1}{2l}\sum_{k}(\mathcal{G}_{0}(k))^{l}(\mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}))^{l}\prod_{i=1}^{2l}\left(\sum_{q_{i}'}\eta_{q_{i}'}\right)\delta_{\sum_{i}(-1)^{i}q_{i},0}$$
$$= \alpha_{l}\prod_{i=1}^{2l}\left(\sum_{q_{i}'}\eta_{q_{i}'}\right)\delta_{\sum_{i}(-1)^{i}q_{i},0},$$
(3.3.41)



Figure 3.3: The coefficients, γ (left) and α_2 (right) (solid line), for the gradient term and the fourth order term, respectively, in the Ginzburg-Landau free energy for CDWs, with the low-temperature limit (dotted line)

The coefficients α_l are

$$\alpha_l = l^{-1} \sum_k (\mathcal{G}_0(k))^l (\mathcal{G}_0(k-2k_F))^l = l^{-1} \sum_k \frac{1}{(i\omega_n - \xi_k)^l} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n + \xi_k)^l}.$$
 (3.3.42)

We can see that the coefficients will decrease in magnitude for higher values of l. Since the first term converges, the subsequent terms will also converge and become smaller due to the increasing power of the denominator, as l increases. By knowing this, combined with the fact that the fourth-order term ensures the stability of the system, it is enough to only consider the two first coefficients, α_1 and α_2 .

3.3.6 Summary of the Ginzburg-Landau theory

In our derivation of the Ginzburg-Landau theory, we found expressions for the phenomenological constants in equation (3.3.2). The coefficients, together with their low-temperature limits are shown in figure 3.3. We found the critical temperature for the CDW by solving $\alpha_1 = 0$, which coincides with the results from section 3.2. Below this temperature, it is favorable to create CDWs and we need the fourth-order term to be positive, $\alpha_2 > 0$, to ensure the stability of the system. Above this critical temperature, it will be energetically costly to make CDWs, and the system will be stable. The positive coefficient in front of the gradient term tells us that spatial fluctuations of the CDWs are not favorable. Moreover, we can see that this coefficient is in line with what we would expect from a classical Ginzburg-Landau theory, $\gamma \sim v_F^2/T^3$ [44]. As a final consideration, we want to look at the system without spatial fluctuations, setting the gradient term to zero. By finding the extremum of the free energy we have that $\eta(2\alpha_1 + 4\alpha_2\eta^2) = 0$. From this, we can see that above T_C there is only one solution, $\eta = 0$. Below T_C the mean-field order parameter can be written as $\eta = \sqrt{-\frac{\alpha_1}{2\alpha_2}} = \sqrt{\frac{\alpha'_1}{2\alpha_2}}\sqrt{T_C - T}$. This dependence of $T_C - T$ is exactly what we would have expected for a mean-field order parameter. Ginzburg-Landau Theory for Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity

Chapter 4

Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity in the Functional Integral Approach

In this chapter, we want to study the interplay between SC and CDWs. It is particularly interesting to see if it is energetically favorable to have a coexistence of the two phases.

4.1 Effective action

The structure of the derivation will be similar to what we did in chapter 3. In addition to the Hamiltonian we had in equation (3.1.1), we will add the potential $V_{\sigma,\bar{\sigma}}$, which couples fermions of different spins. This will be the potential that can give rise to a SC state in our system. The Hamiltonian that we will add to the CDW system, will be

$$H_{SC} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma} \sum_{i,j} V_{\sigma,\bar{\sigma}} (\mathbf{r}_i - \mathbf{r}_j) c^{\dagger}_{i,\sigma} c_{i,\sigma} c^{\dagger}_{j,\bar{\sigma}} c_{j,\bar{\sigma}}.$$
(4.1.1)

By applying a Fourier transformation to the SC interaction term, and adding the terms from equation 3.1.1, we have that the total Hamiltonian in momentum space is

$$H = \sum_{k,\sigma} \xi_{\mathbf{k}} c_{k,\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{k,\sigma} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'} \sum_{k,k',q} V(q) c_{k+q/2,\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{k-q/2,\sigma} c_{k'-q/2,\sigma'}^{\dagger} c_{k'+q/2,\sigma'} + \sum_{k,k',q} \lambda(k'-k) c_{k+q/2,\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{k'+q/2,\uparrow} c_{-k+q/2,\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{-k'+q/2,\downarrow}, \qquad (4.1.2)$$

where we have defined the spin-independent potential $\lambda(k'-k) \equiv V_{\sigma,\bar{\sigma}}(k'-k)$. The Fourier transformation of the interaction term is found in appendix C. From the Hamiltonian, we can find the action of the system

$$S = \sum_{k,\sigma} \bar{\psi}_{k,\sigma} [-i\omega_n + \xi_{\mathbf{k}}] \psi_{k,\sigma} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'} \sum_{k,k',q} V(q) \bar{\psi}_{k+q/2,\sigma} \psi_{k-q/2,\sigma} \bar{\psi}_{k'-q/2,\sigma'} \psi_{k'+q/2,\sigma'} + \sum_{k,k',q} \lambda(k'-k) \bar{\psi}_{k+q/2,\uparrow} \bar{\psi}_{-k+q/2,\downarrow} \psi_{k'+q/2,\uparrow} \psi_{-k'+q/2,\downarrow}.$$
(4.1.3)

Furthermore, we will decouple the interaction terms and rearrange the fields in such a way that we can integrate over the fermionic fields. Firstly, we will decouple the quartic fermion terms. The decoupling of the CDW term will be the same as in chapter 3. For the SC interaction term, we introduce the auxiliary fields Δ and its complex conjugate $\overline{\Delta}$. The combined measure for the CDWs and the SC decoupling is

$$\mathbb{1} = \int \mathcal{D}[\kappa, \bar{\Delta}, \Delta] \exp\left(-\sum_{q} \frac{\kappa(q)\kappa(-q)}{V(q)} - \sum_{q,k,k'} \frac{\bar{\Delta}(k', q)\Delta(k, q)}{\lambda(k' - k)}\right),\tag{4.1.4}$$

where we have used that the SC decoupling field is complex. From section 2.7 we stated that the SC interaction term is supposed to be decoupled in the particle-particle channel, while the CDWs decouples in the particle-hole channel. This can be written in terms of the following shifts

$$\Delta(k,q) \to \Delta(k,q) - \sum_{k'} \lambda(k'-k)\psi_{k'+q/2,\uparrow}\psi_{-k'+q/2,\downarrow}, \qquad (4.1.5a)$$

$$\bar{\Delta}(k,q) \to \bar{\Delta}(k,q) - \sum_{k'} \lambda(k'-k)\bar{\psi}_{-k'+q/2,\downarrow}\bar{\psi}_{k'+q/2,\uparrow}, \qquad (4.1.5b)$$

$$\kappa(q) \to \kappa(q) - \frac{1}{2} V(q) \sum_{k,\sigma} \bar{\psi}_{k+q/2,\sigma} \psi_{k-q/2,\sigma}.$$
(4.1.5c)

Next, we insert these shifts into the measure (4.1.4), and use that $\sum_{k'} \lambda^{-1}(k-k')\lambda(k'-k'') = \delta_{k,k''}$. When doing so, we trade the interaction terms with quadratic fermion terms coupled to bosonic auxiliary fields. The partition function reads

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi \int \mathcal{D}[\kappa, \bar{\Delta}, \Delta] e^{-\tilde{S}[\bar{\psi}, \psi, \kappa, \bar{\Delta}, \Delta]}, \qquad (4.1.6)$$

with the decoupled action

$$\tilde{S}[\bar{\psi},\psi,\kappa,\bar{\Delta},\Delta] = \sum_{q} \frac{\kappa(q)\kappa(q)}{V(q)} + \sum_{k,k',q} \frac{\bar{\Delta}(k',q)\Delta(k,q)}{\lambda(k'-k)}$$
(4.1.7a)

$$+\sum_{k,\sigma} \bar{\psi}_{k,\sigma} [-\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}(k)] \psi_{k,\sigma} - \sum_{k,q,\sigma} \kappa(q) \bar{\psi}_{k-q/2,\sigma} \psi_{k+q/2,\sigma}$$
(4.1.7b)

$$-\sum_{k,q} \left[\bar{\Delta}(k,q) \psi_{k+q/2,\uparrow} \psi_{-k+q/2,\downarrow} + \Delta(k,q) \bar{\psi}_{-k+q/2,\downarrow} \bar{\psi}_{k+q/2,\uparrow} \right].$$
(4.1.7c)

The next step is to structure the interaction terms in a matrix such that we can integrate over the fermionic fields. To do this, we introduce the Nambu spinors

$$\bar{\Psi}_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\psi}_{k,\uparrow} & \bar{\psi}_{k,\downarrow} & \psi_{-k,\uparrow} & \psi_{-k,\downarrow} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Psi_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{k,\uparrow} \\ \psi_{k,\downarrow} \\ \bar{\psi}_{-k,\uparrow} \\ \bar{\psi}_{-k,\downarrow} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.1.8)

Using these spinors and rearranging the fermionic action, we can write the total action as

$$\tilde{S}[\bar{\psi},\psi,\kappa,\bar{\Delta},\Delta] = \sum_{q} \frac{\kappa(q)\kappa(-q)}{V(q)} + \sum_{k,k',q} \frac{\bar{\Delta}(k',q)\Delta(k,q)}{\lambda(k'-k)} + \sum_{k_1,k_2} \bar{\Psi}_{k_1}[-\frac{1}{2}\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{k_1,k_2}^{-1}]\Psi_{k_2,}, \quad (4.1.9)$$

where we simplified the notation by relabeling the momenta as $k_1 = k - q/2$ and $k_2 = k + q/2$. Following this, we have that $\hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}$ is

$$\begin{split} \hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1} &= \hat{\mathcal{F}}_0^{-1} + \hat{\mathcal{B}} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)}]^{-1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)}]^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)}]^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)}]^{-1} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\kappa} & 0 & 0 & -\hat{\Delta} \\ 0 & \hat{\kappa} & \hat{\Delta} & 0 \\ 0 & \hat{\Delta} & -\hat{\kappa} & 0 \\ -\hat{\Delta} & 0 & 0 & -\hat{\kappa} \end{bmatrix}, \end{split}$$

where the matrix-elements in $\hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}$ are operators in momentum space. Owing to the discreteness of the momentum, these can be structured as matrices, and their matrix elements are defined as

$$[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]_{k,k'}^{-1} = \mathcal{G}_{0}^{-1}(k)\delta_{k,k'}, \quad [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}]_{k,k'}^{-1} = \mathcal{G}_{0}^{-1}(-k)\delta_{k,k'}, \tag{4.1.10}$$

$$(\hat{\kappa})_{k,k'} = \kappa(k'-k),$$
 (4.1.11)

$$(\hat{\Delta})_{k,k'} = \Delta\left(\frac{k+k'}{2}, k-k'\right), \quad (\hat{\bar{\Delta}})_{k,k'} = \bar{\Delta}\left(\frac{k+k'}{2}, k'-k\right), \quad (4.1.12)$$

where $[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1}$ and $[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}]^{-1}$ are the non-interacting Greens functions of the particle and hole, respectively [44]. In the rearrangement of the operators, we assumed that Δ and $\bar{\Delta}$ are even in their relative momenta, k. Integrating over the fermion fields yields

$$S_{\text{eff}} = \sum_{q} \frac{\kappa(q)\kappa(q)}{V(q)} + \sum_{k,k',q} \frac{\bar{\Delta}(k',q)\Delta(k,q)}{\lambda(k'-k)} - \frac{1}{2}\text{Tr}\ln\left(-\beta\hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}\right).$$
(4.1.13)

This is the effective bosonic action of the theory. The next step is to find the mean-field configuration of the bosonic field through a stationary phase analysis.

4.2 Stationary phase analysis

Before developing a Ginzburg-Landau theory of the system, we want to do a stationary phase analysis to derive the mean-field configurations of κ and Δ . In order to derive this we will assume that the small momentum¹ of Δ , will be set to zero, $\Delta(k, 0) \rightarrow \Delta(k)$. Following the same procedure as in chapter 3, we will therefore differentiate the effective action (4.1.13) with respect to $\kappa(2k_F)$ and $\overline{\Delta}(k)$.

¹See section 2.7 on the Hubbard-Stratonovich decoupling

4.2.1 Charge density waves

Starting with the order parameter for CDW, we will differentiate the effective action with respect to $\kappa(2k_F)$

$$0 \stackrel{!}{=} \frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}}{\delta \kappa (2k_F)} = 2V^{-1}(2k_F)\kappa(2k_F) - \frac{1}{2}\text{Tr}\Big(\hat{\mathcal{F}}\frac{\delta\hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}}{\delta \kappa(2k_F)}\Big), \qquad (4.2.1)$$

following the same steps as in section 3.2. To proceed, we need to calculate the inverse of $\hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}$ and differentiate \mathcal{F}^{-1} with respect to the CDW order parameter. These are

$$\hat{\mathcal{F}} = \hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} & 0 & 0 & -\hat{\Delta} \\ 0 & [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} & \hat{\Delta} & 0 \\ 0 & \hat{\Delta} & -[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1} - \hat{\kappa} & 0 \\ -\hat{\Delta} & 0 & 0 & -[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1} - \hat{\kappa} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (4.2.2)$$
$$\frac{\delta \hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}}{\delta \kappa (2k_F)} = \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, -1) \frac{\delta \hat{\kappa}}{\delta \kappa (2k_F)}, \quad (4.2.3)$$

where we defined the common denominator $\hat{\mathcal{D}} = \left([\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} \right) \left([\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} \right) + \hat{\Delta} \hat{\Delta}$. The last term of equation (4.2.1) will be

$$\operatorname{Tr} \left[\hat{\mathcal{F}} \frac{\delta \hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}}{\delta \kappa (2k_F)} \right] = \\\operatorname{Tr} \left(\begin{array}{cccc} \hat{\mathcal{D}}^{(h)}_{0} \\ \hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ -\hat{\bar{\Delta}} \\ -\hat{\bar{\Delta}} \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ -\hat{\bar{\Delta}} \\ 0 \\ -\hat{\bar{\Delta}} \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \hat{\mathcal{F}}^{(p)}_{0} \\ \hat{$$

Moving on, we take the trace in Nambu and momentum space,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\hat{\mathcal{F}}\frac{\delta\hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\right) = 2\sum_{k_1,k_2} \left[\hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}(2\hat{\kappa} + [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)}]^{-1} + [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)}]^{-1})\right]_{k_1,k_2} \left[\frac{\delta\hat{\kappa}}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\right]_{k_2,k_1}.$$
 (4.2.5)

When differentiating $\hat{\kappa}$, we used that $\left[\frac{\delta\hat{\kappa}}{\delta\kappa(2k_F)}\right]_{k_2,k_1} = \delta_{k_1-k_2,2k_F}$. Thus, the stationary phase condition is

$$\kappa(2k_F) = V(2k_F) \sum_{k} (\hat{\mathbf{G}})_{k,k-2k_F}, \qquad (4.2.6)$$

where we defined $\hat{\mathbf{G}} = \left[\hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}(\hat{\kappa} + \frac{1}{2}[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)}]^{-1} + \frac{1}{2}[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)}]^{-1})\right]$ as the propagator.

To confirm that this result is in line with the result we found for the system in section 3.2, we set $\Delta = 0$ and assume $\kappa \ll 1$

$$1 = -V(2k_F) \sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_0(k) \mathcal{G}_0(k - 2k_F).$$
(4.2.7)

4.2.2 Superconductivity

To derive the self-consistent equation for the mean-field order parameter for SC, we will differentiate the effective action with respect to $\bar{\Delta}(k)$

$$0 \stackrel{!}{=} \frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}}{\delta \bar{\Delta}(k)} = \sum_{k'} \Delta(k') \lambda^{-1}(k-k') - \frac{\delta}{\delta \bar{\Delta}(k)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \text{Tr} \ln\left[-\beta \hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}\right]\right).$$
(4.2.8)

By performing the differentiating in the same way as for the CDW case, we get

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\hat{\mathcal{F}}\frac{\delta\hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}}{\delta\bar{\Delta}(k)}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1} \begin{vmatrix} \hat{\Delta} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \hat{\Delta} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1} - \hat{\kappa} & 0 & 0\\ [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{vmatrix} \frac{\delta\hat{\Delta}}{\delta\bar{\Delta}(k)}\right). \quad (4.2.9)$$

The next step is to take the trace in Nambu and momentum space

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\hat{\mathcal{F}}\frac{\delta\hat{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}}{\delta\bar{\Delta}(k)}\right) = 2\sum_{k_1,k_2} \left(\hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\hat{\Delta}\right)_{k_1,k_2} \left(\frac{\delta\hat{\bar{\Delta}}}{\delta\bar{\Delta}(k)}\right)_{k_2,k_1},\qquad(4.2.10)$$

where we have that $\left(\frac{\delta\hat{\Delta}}{\delta\Delta(k)}\right)_{k_2,k_1} = \delta_{k_1,k_2}$. Inserting this back into equation (4.2.8), gives

$$\sum_{k'} \Delta(k') \lambda^{-1}(k-k') = \left(\hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\hat{\Delta}\right)_{k,k}.$$
 (4.2.11)

Eventually, we want an expression for $\Delta(k)$. To achieve that, we will multiply by the potential $\lambda(k''-k)$ and sum over k on both sides

$$\sum_{k'} \sum_{k} \Delta(k') \lambda(k'' - k) \lambda^{-1}(k - k') = \sum_{k} \lambda(k'' - k) \left(\hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\hat{\Delta}\right)_{k,k}.$$
 (4.2.12)

By using that $\sum_k \lambda(k''-k)\lambda^{-1}(k-k') = \delta_{k',k''}$, we get the stationary phase equation for the SC order parameter

$$\Delta(k) = \sum_{k'} \lambda(k - k')(\hat{\mathbf{F}})_{k',k'}, \qquad (4.2.13)$$

with the propagator

$$\hat{\mathbf{F}}_{k,k} = (\hat{\mathcal{D}}^{-1}\hat{\Delta})_{k,k} = \left[\left([\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} \right) \left([\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} \right) + \hat{\Delta}\hat{\bar{\Delta}} \right]_{k,k}^{-1} \Delta(k)$$
(4.2.14)

and we assumed that $\hat{\Delta}$ is diagonal in k-space in this consideration. Further, we will focus on the solution where $\Delta(k) \neq 0$. To check if our calculations are consistent with the existing theory, we will set $\hat{\kappa} = 0$, and assume Δ and $\overline{\Delta}$ to be small. The right-hand side of equation (4.2.13) can be written as

$$\sum_{k'} \lambda(k-k') \left[[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1} [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}]^{-1} + \hat{\Delta} \hat{\bar{\Delta}} \right]_{k',k'}^{-1} \Delta(k')$$

$$\approx \sum_{k'} \lambda(k-k') \mathcal{G}_{0}(k') \mathcal{G}_{0}(-k') \Delta(k'). \qquad (4.2.15)$$

Next, we put the expansion back into equation (4.2.13), and get the following expression

$$\Delta(k) = \sum_{k'} \lambda(k - k') \mathcal{G}_0(k') \mathcal{G}_0(-k') \Delta(k'), \qquad (4.2.16)$$

which is the linearized gap equation. In the following equations, we assume a s-wave SC, $\lambda(k - k') = \frac{\lambda}{N\beta}$. By assuming that $\Delta(k)$ is independent of the Matsubara frequency, we can perform this frequency summation

$$\Delta(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{\mathbf{k}'} \frac{\lambda}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}'}} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}'}}{2}\right) \Delta(\mathbf{k}'). \tag{4.2.17}$$

This equation has the same structure as the gap equation in the BCS model [43]. Proceeding, we will assume that Δ is a constant and use the general form of the potential

$$\Delta_0 = \sum_{k'} \lambda(k - k') \mathcal{G}_0(k') \mathcal{G}_0(-k') \Delta_0, \qquad (4.2.18)$$

$$1 = \sum_{k'} \lambda(k - k') \mathcal{G}_0(k') \mathcal{G}_0(-k').$$
(4.2.19)

From this, we can derive an equation for the critical temperature, and it can be shown that it will be the same as for the BCS case. The pair-susceptibility is $\chi_{pp} \propto [1 - \sum_{k'} \lambda(k - k')\mathcal{G}_0(k')\mathcal{G}_0(-k')]^{-1}$. Hence, the critical temperature will lead to a divergence in the susceptibility and we can therefore conclude that Δ is indeed a suitable order parameter for the SC phase transition.

4.2.3 Mean-field equations

In the stationary phase analysis, we have found the mean-field equations for the order parameters. To summarize, we found that both of the order parameters can be written as their respective potential multiplied by a propagator. The mean-field equations are

$$\Delta(k) = \sum_{k'} \lambda(k - k')(\hat{\mathbf{F}})_{k',k'}, \qquad (4.2.20)$$

$$2\kappa(2k_F) = V(2k_F) \sum_{k} (\hat{\mathbf{G}})_{k,k-2k_F}, \qquad (4.2.21)$$

where the propagators are

$$\hat{\mathbf{F}} = \left[\left([\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} \right) \left([\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} \right) + \hat{\bar{\Delta}} \hat{\Delta} \right]^{-1} \hat{\Delta}, \qquad (4.2.22)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{G}} = \left[\left([\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} \right) \left([\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}]^{-1} + \hat{\kappa} \right) + \hat{\Delta} \hat{\Delta} \right]^{-1} \left(2\hat{\kappa} + [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}]^{-1} + [\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}]^{-1} \right).$$
(4.2.23)

This finishes the stationary phase analysis and the next step is to derive a Ginzburg-Landau theory of the system.

4.3 Ginzburg-Landau theory for fluctuations

The following section involves the derivation of a Ginzburg-Landau theory to describe the interplay between superconductivity and charge density waves. Eventually, we want to derive the phenomenological constant for the coupled term between SC and CDWs to see if it is energetically favorable for them to coexist. Just as for the system with only CDWs, we want to look at small fluctuations around the mean-field value

$$\hat{\kappa} = \hat{\kappa}_{MF} + \hat{\eta} = \hat{\eta}, \quad \hat{\Delta} = \hat{\Delta}_{MF} + \hat{\nu} = \hat{\nu}, \quad \hat{\bar{\Delta}} = \hat{\bar{\Delta}}_{MF} + \hat{\bar{\nu}} = \hat{\bar{\nu}}.$$
(4.3.1)

From section 3.3 we have that the effective action can be written as $S_{\text{eff}} = S_{MF} + \beta F$. The mean-field action of this system will be $S_{\text{MF}} = \beta \mathcal{F}_0^{-1}$. We expect the free energy to be

$$F = F_{\rm C} + F_{\rm S} + F_{\rm C,S}, \tag{4.3.2}$$

$$F_{\rm C} = \int d^d r \left(\alpha_1 \left(\eta(r) \right)^2 + \gamma_{\rm C} \left(\nabla \eta(r) \right)^2 + \alpha_2 \left(\eta(r) \right)^4 + \ldots \right), \qquad (4.3.3)$$

$$F_{\rm S} = \int d^d r \left(\beta_1 |\nu(r)|^2 + \gamma_{\rm S} |\nabla \nu(r)|^2 + \beta_2 |\nu(r)|^4 + \ldots \right), \qquad (4.3.4)$$

$$F_{\rm C,S} = \int d^d r \left(\rho \left(\eta(r) \right)^2 |\nu(r)|^2 + \dots \right), \qquad (4.3.5)$$

where $F_{\rm C}$ is the free energy only for the CDW order parameter, $F_{\rm S}$ for the SC order parameter, and $F_{\rm C,S}$ for the interplay between them. The coefficient that we are most interested in is the coupling coefficient ρ . This coefficient will tell us if it is energetically favorable to have the states coexisting or if they are competing states. To be able to calculate the coefficient in the Ginzburg-Landau theory we must first find an expression for the expansion of $\text{Tr}\ln(1 + \hat{\mathcal{F}}_0\hat{\mathcal{B}})$, from the action in equation (4.1.13). We have that the total free energy F is

$$\beta F = \sum_{q} \frac{\eta(q)\eta(q)}{V(q)} + \sum_{k,k',q} \frac{\bar{\nu}(k',q)\nu(k,q)}{\lambda(k'-k)} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\ln(\mathbb{1} + \hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0}\hat{\mathcal{B}}).$$
(4.3.6)

We assume that the fluctuations are small, and we can expand the last term as

$$-\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\ln(\mathbb{1}+\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0}\hat{\mathcal{B}}) = \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\sum_{k}\frac{(-1)^{k}}{k}(\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0}\hat{\mathcal{B}})^{k}\right).$$
(4.3.7)

The next step is to calculate the coefficients for the different orders of the expansion, to find an expression for the coefficients α_1 , α_2 , β_1 , β_2 , γ_S , γ_C and ρ .

4.3.1 First order

The first term of the expansion in the equation (4.3.7) is

$$-\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{Tr}(\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0}\hat{\mathcal{B}}) = -\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{Tr}\begin{bmatrix}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\eta} & 0 & 0 & -\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\nu}\\ 0 & \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\eta} & \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\nu} & 0\\ 0 & -\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}\hat{\nu} & \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}\hat{\eta} & 0\\ \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}\hat{\nu} & 0 & 0 & \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}\hat{\eta}\end{bmatrix}$$
$$= -\sum_{k} \left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\eta}\right]_{k,k} - \sum_{k} \left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}\hat{\eta}\right]_{k,k}$$
(4.3.8)

We have that \mathcal{G}_0 is diagonal in k-space and $\hat{\eta}$ has only off-diagonal elements, leading to the term being zero.

4.3.2 Second order

Furthermore, we can derive the coefficients for the second-order term

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{2} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0} \hat{\mathcal{B}} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0} \hat{\mathcal{B}} \right) = \sum_{k} \left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\eta} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\eta} - \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)} \hat{\bar{\nu}} \right]_{k,k} \\
= \sum_{k,q} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k - 2k_{F} + q) \eta (2k_{F} - q) \eta (2k_{F} - q) \\
- \sum_{k,q} \mathcal{G}(k + q/2) \mathcal{G}(-k + q/2) \nu(k, -q) \bar{\nu}(k, q).$$
(4.3.9)

We will start by deriving an expression for the SC second-order term. In order to derive expressions for the coefficients, we have to assume that the fluctuation of the superconductive order parameter is independent of k (relative momentum), $\nu(k,q) \rightarrow \nu(q)$. The k-summation over the Greens functions can be written as

$$\sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k+q/2) \mathcal{G}_{0}(q/2-k) \approx \sum_{k,q} \frac{1}{i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}}-\mathbf{q}/2\cdot\mathbf{v}} \frac{1}{-i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}}+\mathbf{q}/2\cdot\mathbf{v}}$$
$$= \sum_{k} \frac{1}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \left[\frac{1}{i\omega_{n}+\xi_{\mathbf{k}}-\mathbf{q}/2\cdot\mathbf{v}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n}-\xi_{\mathbf{k}}-\mathbf{q}/2\cdot\mathbf{v}} \right].$$
(4.3.10)

To proceed, we expand the expression for $q \ll 1$

$$\sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k+q/2)\mathcal{G}_{0}(q/2-k) \approx \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \frac{1}{\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \left\{ \frac{1}{i\omega + \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + \frac{\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{v}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{(i\omega + \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} - \frac{1}{(i\omega - \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} \right] + \frac{(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{v})^{2}}{4} \left[\frac{1}{(i\omega + \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{3}} - \frac{1}{(i\omega - \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{3}} \right] \right\}$$
(4.3.11)

As earlier, we start by performing the Matsuabara frequency sums using the results from appendix D. The sums we need are

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{i\omega_n \pm \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{\beta}{e^{\mp\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + 1},\tag{4.3.12}$$

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n \pm \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^2} = -\frac{\beta^2}{4} \operatorname{sech}^2(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}), \qquad (4.3.13)$$

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n \pm \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^3} = \mp \frac{\beta^3}{8} \tanh(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}) \operatorname{sech}^2(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}).$$
(4.3.14)

From this, we see that the linear term in q will be zero. Moving on, we will first look at the term independent of q

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\beta}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \left[\frac{1}{e^{-\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + 1} - \frac{1}{e^{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + 1} \right] = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\beta}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right)$$
$$= \frac{\beta D(\xi_F)}{2} \int_{-\omega_c}^{\omega_c} \frac{d\xi}{\xi} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right). \tag{4.3.15}$$

This integral is not possible to solve analytically, but it can be shown that it is positive. Next, we look at the term that is quadratic in \mathbf{q} ,

$$\gamma_{\rm S} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{v})^2}{4} \frac{\beta^2}{8\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \left[\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) \right]$$
$$= \mathbf{q}^2 \frac{\beta^3 D(\xi_F)}{96m^*} \int_{-\omega_c}^{\omega_c} \frac{d\xi}{\xi} (\xi + \mu) \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)$$
(4.3.16)

$$= \mathbf{q}^{2} \mu \frac{\beta^{3} D(\xi_{F})}{48m^{*}} \int_{0}^{\omega_{c}} \frac{d\xi}{\xi} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \operatorname{sech}^{2}\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right).$$
(4.3.17)

In equation (4.3.16) the ξ -term in the parenthesis will be zero due to the anti-symmetry of the total integrand. Like in the previous case, the integral can be shown to be positive, but it is not possible to solve it analytically. Having derived an expression for the integrals for the second-order coefficients for SC, we can write the free energy to second order as

$$\beta F[\eta, \nu, \bar{\nu}] \approx \sum_{\mathbf{q}} \alpha_1 \eta (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}) \eta (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}) + \beta_1 \nu(\mathbf{q}) \bar{\nu}(\mathbf{q}) + \gamma_C \mathbf{q}^2 \eta (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}) \eta (2\mathbf{k}_F - \mathbf{q}) + \gamma_S \mathbf{q}^2 \nu(\mathbf{q}) \bar{\nu}(\mathbf{q}).$$
(4.3.18)

The coefficients in front of the CDW order parameter, α_1 and γ_C , are the same as in equation (3.3.27) and (3.3.28). All of the coefficients are listed under

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{N\beta}{V_{2\mathbf{k}_F}} - \beta D_F \int_0^{\omega_C} d\xi \frac{\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)}{\xi},\tag{4.3.19}$$

$$\beta_1 = \frac{N\beta}{\lambda} - \beta D_F \int_0^{\omega_c} \frac{d\xi}{\xi} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right), \qquad (4.3.20)$$

$$\gamma_{\rm C} = v_F^2 \frac{13}{24} \beta D_F \int_0^{\omega_c} d\xi \frac{1}{\xi^3} \left[-\sinh\left(\beta\xi_k\right) + \beta\xi + \beta^2\xi^2 \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \right] \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right), \quad (4.3.21)$$

$$\gamma_{\rm S} = v_F^2 \frac{\beta^3}{96} D_F \int_0^{\omega_c} \frac{d\xi}{\xi} \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right). \tag{4.3.22}$$

We can observe that the second-order terms in α_1 and β_1 are the same, but they have different potentials in their first terms. Hence, the critical temperatures of the two states will be different. By following the same scheme as in section 3.3, we can write the coefficient β_1 in terms of the deviation from the critical temperature for the SC state. Hence, the two coefficients in terms of their critical temperature are

$$\alpha_1 \approx \alpha_1' (T - T_C^{\text{CDW}}), \qquad (4.3.23)$$

$$\beta_1 \approx \beta_1' (T - T_C^{\rm SC}). \tag{4.3.24}$$

Note that, in this approximation $\alpha'_1 = \beta'_1$.

Considering the low-temperature limit in $\gamma_{\rm S}$, the integral in the equation (4.3.22) may be evaluated analytically. Note that it will be the same as γ_1 in equation (3.3.30). Thus, in the low-temperature limit, the coefficient for the gradient term in SC is

$$\gamma_S = v_F^2 \frac{\beta^3}{96} D_F \frac{1}{\pi^2} \zeta(3, 1/2). \tag{4.3.25}$$

4.3.3 Third order

The terms for the third-order expansion are

$$(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\eta})^{3}, \quad (\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\bar{\hat{\eta}})^{3}, \quad \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\eta}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\nu}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}\hat{\bar{\nu}}, \quad \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}\hat{\eta}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)}\hat{\bar{\nu}}\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)}\hat{\nu}.$$
(4.3.26)

It can be shown that the coefficients of these terms will be zero. This is due to the anti-symmetric integrands in the energy integrals when calculating $\sum_{k} \left[\mathcal{G}_{0}^{(p/h)} \right]^{3}$.

4.3.4 Fourth order

The fourth-order terms consist of three different types of terms, the bare CDW term, the bare SC term, and the cross-term. We will derive the coefficients for these terms. The

derivation starts with multiplying the matrices together and taking the traces

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{4} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_0 \hat{\mathcal{B}} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_0 \hat{\mathcal{B}} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_0 \hat{\mathcal{B}} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_0 \hat{\mathcal{B}} \right)$$

$$= \sum_k \left\{ \frac{1}{4} \left[(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)} \hat{\eta})^4 \right]_{k,k} + \frac{1}{4} \left[(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\eta})^4 \right]_{k,k} + \frac{1}{2} \left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \right]_{k,k} - \left[(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)} \hat{\eta})^2 \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \right]_{k,k} - \left[(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\eta})^2 \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_0^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \right]_{k,k} \right\}.$$

For the fourth-order terms, we will assume that $q \ll k$ so that the bare Greens function is only dependent on k. The first two terms are equivalent, which can be seen by letting $-k \rightarrow k$ in the sums. These terms will be the same as the fourth-order terms in section 3.3. Hence we will just state the result

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \left[(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\eta})^{4} \right]_{k,k} \approx \alpha_{2} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \eta_{q_{1}'} \eta_{q_{2}'} \eta_{q_{3}'} \eta_{q_{4}'} \delta_{q_{1}-q_{2}+q_{3}-q_{4}}, \tag{4.3.27}$$

$$\alpha_2 = \frac{\beta}{8} D_F \int_0^{\omega_C} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} (\sinh(\beta\xi) - \beta\xi) \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\beta\frac{\xi}{2}\right), \qquad (4.3.28)$$

where we know from the section about CDWs that α_2 in equation (3.3.39), is positive.

The next term is the quartic term for the SC order parameter

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)} \hat{\bar{\nu}} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)} \hat{\bar{\nu}} \right]_{k,k} \approx \beta_{2} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \nu_{q_{1}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{2}} \nu_{q_{3}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{4}} \delta_{q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}+q_{4},0}, \qquad (4.3.29)$$

where $\nu_q \equiv \nu(-q)$ and $\bar{\nu}_q \equiv \bar{\nu}(q)$. This coefficient will be exactly as the coefficient for the quartic CDW term, α_2 (3.3.39). Hence, we have that

$$\beta_2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_k (\mathcal{G}_0(k))^2 (\mathcal{G}_0(-k))^2 \approx \frac{\beta}{8} D_F \int_0^{\omega_c} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} \left(\sinh(\beta\xi) - \beta\xi\right) \operatorname{sech}^2(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}), \qquad (4.3.30)$$

which we know is positive.

Having established the fourth-order terms for the bare SC and CDW terms, we will move on to the cross-terms. The first term to evaluate is

$$-\sum_{k} \left[(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\eta})^{2} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)} \hat{\bar{\nu}} \right]_{k,k} \approx \rho_{1} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \eta_{q_{1}} \eta_{q_{2}} \nu_{q_{3}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{4}} \delta_{q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}+q_{4},0}$$
(4.3.31)

where

$$\rho_1 = -\sum_k \mathcal{G}_0(k) \mathcal{G}_0(k-2k_F) \mathcal{G}_0(k) \mathcal{G}_0(-k) \approx \sum_k \frac{1}{(i\omega_n - \xi_k)^2} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n + \xi_k)^2}.$$
 (4.3.32)

In the last transition, we linearized the kinetic energy, as we did in section 3.3. We can see that this is the same integral as in the coefficient calculated for the quartic CDW term

(3.3.39), which gives us the relation $\rho_1 = 2\alpha_2$.

For the next cross-term we see that by letting $-k \rightarrow k$ in the summation, we end up with the same coefficient as for the first cross-term

$$-\sum_{k} \left[(\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)} \hat{\eta})^{2} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \right]_{k,k} \approx \rho_{1} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \eta_{q_{1}} \eta_{q_{2}} \nu_{q_{3}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{4}} \delta_{q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}+q_{4},0}.$$
(4.3.33)

By taking the traces of the last cross-term, we get

$$-\sum_{k} \left[\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\eta} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(p)} \hat{\nu} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)} \hat{\eta} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{0}^{(h)} \hat{\nu} \right]_{k,k}$$

$$\approx -\sum_{k} \mathcal{G}_{0}(k) \mathcal{G}_{0}(k-2k_{F}) (\mathcal{G}_{0}(-k))^{2} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \eta_{q_{1}} \eta_{q_{2}} \nu_{q_{3}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{4}} \delta_{q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}+q_{4},0}$$

$$= \rho_{2} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \eta_{q_{1}} \eta_{q_{2}} \nu_{q_{3}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{4}} \delta_{q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}+q_{4},0}, \qquad (4.3.34)$$

where the last cross-term coefficient is

$$\rho_2 = -\sum_k \mathcal{G}_0(k) \mathcal{G}_0(k-2k_F) (\mathcal{G}_0(-k))^2 \approx -\sum_k \frac{1}{i\omega_n - \xi_k} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n + \xi_k)^3}.$$
 (4.3.35)

We will follow the same procedure as for the previous coefficients, and first rewrite the expression and do the matsubara summations

$$\rho_{2} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \left[\frac{1}{8\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^{3}} \left(\frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} + \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right) - \frac{1}{4\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^{2}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \frac{1}{(i\omega_{n} - \xi_{\mathbf{k}})^{3}} \right]$$
$$= \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\beta}{8\xi_{\mathbf{k}}^{3}} \left[-\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) + \frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\operatorname{sech}^{2}\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) + \frac{\beta^{2}\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) \operatorname{sech}^{2}\left(\frac{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}\right) \right]$$
(4.3.36)

This gives us the last part of the cross-term coefficient, which will be

$$\rho_2 = \frac{\beta}{8} D_F \int_0^{\omega_C} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} \left[-\sinh(\beta\xi) + \beta\xi + (\beta\xi)^2 \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \right] \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right).$$
(4.3.37)

By adding the three cross-terms together we can see that the total coefficient is

$$\rho = 2\rho_1 + \rho_2 = \frac{\beta}{16} D_F \int_{-\omega_C}^{\omega_C} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} \left[3\sinh(\beta\xi) - 3\beta\xi + (\beta\xi)^2 \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \right] \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right).$$
(4.3.38)

This gives us that the total coefficient for the cross-term ρ is positive. Hence, the coexistence between CDWs and SC is not energetically favorable. Like with the other coefficients, it is possible to find a solution to the integral in the low-temperature regime. By using the calculation we did in section 3.3, we see that the cross-term coefficient is $\rho = \frac{\beta D_F}{8}(-3\gamma_1 + \beta\gamma_2) = \beta^3 D_F \frac{5}{16\pi^2} \zeta(3, 1/2).$



Figure 4.1: The left plot shows the gradient-square term coefficients in the Ginzburg-Landau theory (solid), with its low-temperature limits (dotted). The right plot shows the cross-term coefficient between CDWs and SC (solid) and the low-temperature limit (dotted) of this coefficient.

The total fourth-order term is

$$\frac{1}{8} \operatorname{Tr} \sum_{k} \left(\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0} \hat{\mathcal{B}} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0} \hat{\mathcal{B}} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0} \hat{\mathcal{B}} \hat{\mathcal{F}}_{0} \hat{\mathcal{B}} \right) \\
\approx \alpha_{2} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \eta_{q_{1}} \eta_{q_{2}} \eta_{q_{3}} \eta_{q_{4}} \delta_{q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}+q_{4},0} + \beta_{2} \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \nu_{q_{1}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{2}} \nu_{q_{3}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{4}} \delta_{q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}+q_{4},0} \\
+ \rho \sum_{\substack{q_{1},q_{2} \\ q_{3},q_{4}}} \eta_{q_{1}} \nu_{q_{2}} \eta_{q_{3}} \bar{\nu}_{q_{4}} \delta_{q_{1}+q_{2}+q_{3}+q_{4},0}, \quad (4.3.39)$$

where

$$\alpha_2 = \beta_2 = \frac{\beta}{8} D_F \int_0^{\omega_c} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} \left(\sinh(\beta\xi) - \beta\xi\right) \operatorname{sech}^2(\frac{\beta\xi}{2})$$
(4.3.40)

$$\rho = \frac{\beta}{8} D_F \int_0^{\omega_C} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^3} \left[3\sinh(\beta\xi) - 3\beta\xi + (\beta\xi)^2 \tanh\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right) \right] \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\beta\xi}{2}\right)$$
(4.3.41)

We get that all the coefficients are positive, which ensures the stability of the system as long as the higher-order coefficients are small, positive, or both.

4.3.5 Higher order

We can use the same arguments as we did in subsection 3.3.5. Namely, by assuming that the bare Greens function does not depend on the momentum q, eventually, the same arguments apply to these coefficients.

4.3.6 Summary of the Ginzburg-Landau theory

In this section, we have derived expressions for the coefficients in the Ginzburg-Landau theory for CDWs and SC. We have included terms up to the fourth order and the quadratic

order of the gradient term. Remarkably, most of the coefficients turn out to be very similar for the CDW terms and the SC terms, but with a few exceptions. We can note that in the quadratic terms, the difference lies in the different potentials. Assuming that these potentials are not the same, this will give two different critical temperatures for the two states, as we would expect for two different phases. By doing the same low-temperature analysis as in 3.3.6, we have that $\eta = C\sqrt{T_{C_{\rm CDW}} - T}$ and $|\nu| = C\sqrt{T_{C_{\rm SC}} - T}$, with the same constant C. The second thing to note is the difference in the gradient term. It turns out that the ratio between the gradient term for the CDWs and SC is 26, which can be seen on the left plot in figure 4.1. This tells us that the CDW state is more resistant to spacial deformations than the SC state. Regardless of the difference in magnitude, also the SC gradient coefficient is proportional to $v_F\beta^3$, just like it is in the case for CDWs. The last thing to note is that we have a positive coefficient in the cross-term between the two states. This tells us that it is not energetically favorable to have co-existence in the system. The coefficient together with the low-temperature limit is shown on the right in figure 4.1.

Chapter 5

Summary and Outlook

In this thesis, our primary goal was to develop a Ginzburg-Landau theory for a system that could exhibit both CDWs and SC. We were particularly interested in the interplay between these phases. The preliminaries, chapter 2, contain an overview of the main concepts of the functional integral method. In chapter 3, we started with a microscopic theory that could describe a system with CDWs. From this, we derived an effective bosonic theory from which we could do a stationary phase analysis. This analysis resulted in a mean-field equation for the order parameter and an expression for the critical temperature. The critical temperature for CDWs had the same structure as T_C in the BCS theory for a superconductor [43]. This points to a purely Coloumb-driven potential in the interaction [53]. In addition to this, we derived an expression for the Lindhard susceptibility and showed its divergence at T_C .

From this, we extrapolated the theory from the normal state, such that it included a small, fluctuating field. This resulted in a Ginzburg-Landau theory of the system. The theory exhibited a familiar structure [44], where the second-order coefficient changes sign at the critical temperature, and the gradient term and the fourth-order term are positive for all T, ensuring the stability of the system. Moreover, we also showed that the temperature dependence was in line with the existing theory [43]. We also stated that the higher-order terms are negligible.

In chapter 4 we added a potential that couples fermions of different spins, to the total action. This resulted in a system exhibiting both CDWs and SC. Furthermore, we did a stationary phase analysis for this system, where we derived self-consistent equations of the mean-field configurations for the two order parameters. Deriving the equations for the critical temperatures, we saw that they behave similarly, where the only difference lies in the potentials of the interactions. Moreover, we derived an expression for the pair susceptibility and showed its divergence at the critical temperature.

The last part of the thesis contained a derivation of a Ginzburg-Landau theory for the system with CDWs and SC. The model exhibited some interesting results. Firstly, the second-order terms were almost identical for the CDW and SC terms. The only difference was in the potentials (critical temperature) for the two interactions. Secondly, we de-

rived an expression for the modulus of the order parameter in the low-temperature limit. We showed for both phases it was proportional to $\sqrt{T - T_C}$. The coefficients for the gradient terms showed that the CDW state was 26 times more resistant to spatial deformations than the SC state. These results are intriguing due to the contrasting nature of the phases. Specifically, the superconductor breaks the electromagnetic gauge symmetry, while the CDW (charge density wave) state breaks translational symmetry. However, it is noteworthy that they exhibit the same structure in the Ginzburg-Landau coefficients. Lastly, we showed that the coexistence between SC and CDWs is not favorable in this model.

For a deeper understanding of the system, a natural next step would be to use the renormalization group theory on the Ginzburg-Landau model we constructed within the framework of this thesis. This will give an insight into how the system behaves around a critical point. Additionally, this will make the model more capable to be experimentally validated.

Bibliography

- R. Peierls and R. E. Peierls, *Quantum theory of solids*. Oxford University Press, 1955.
- [2] J. Feng, X. Sun, C. Wu, L. Peng, C. Lin, S. Hu, J. Yang, and Y. Xie, "Metallic fewlayered VS₂ ultrathin nanosheets: High two-dimensional conductivity for in-plane supercapacitors," J. Am. Chem. Soc, vol. 133, pp. 17832–17838, 2011.
- [3] G. Liu, B. Debnath, T. R. Pope, T. T. Salguero, R. K. Lake, and A. A. Balandin, "A charge-density-wave oscillator based on an integrated tantalum disulfide-boron nitride-graphene device operating at room temperature," *Nature Nanotchnology*, vol. 11, 2016.
- [4] Y. H. Huang, R. S. Chen, J. R. Zhang, and Y. S. Huang, "Electronic transport in NbSe₂ two-dimensional nanostructures: semiconducting characteristics and photoconductivity," *Nanoscale*, vol. 7, p. 18964, 2015.
- [5] M. C. Wu, A. Aziz, J. D. Witt, M. C. Hickey, M. Ali, C. H. Marrows, B. J. Hickey, and M. G. Blamire, "Structural and functional analysis of nanopillar spin electronic devices fabricated by 3D focused ion beam lithography," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 19, p. 485305, 11 2008.
- [6] S. Ekrheim and M. E. F. Roheim, "Charge density waves in the hubbard-holstein model and the extended hubbard model in one dimension," *Unpublished*, 2022.
- [7] H. K. Onnes, "Further experiments with liquid helium: G. on the electrical resistance of pure metals, etc. VI. on the sudden change in the rate at which the resistance of mercury disappears," 1911.
- [8] W. Meissner and R. Ochsenfeld, "Ein neuer effekt bei eintritt der supraleitfähigkeit," Die Naturwissenschaften, vol. 21, pp. 787–788, 11 1933.
- [9] M. Stemmle, F. Merschel, M. Noe, and A. Hobl, "Ampacity installation of advanced superconducting 10 kV system in city center replaces conventional 110 kV cables," in 2013 IEEE International Conference on Applied Superconductivity and Electromagnetic Devices, pp. 323–326, 2013.
- [10] Y. Lvovsky, E. W. Stautner, and T. Zhang, "Novel technologies and configurations of superconducting magnets for mri," *Superconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 26, p. 093001, jul 2013.

- [11] H. L. Huang, D. Wu, D. Fan, and X. Zhu, "Superconducting quantum computing: a review," Science China Information Sciences 2020 63:8, vol. 63, pp. 1–32, 7 2020.
- [12] J. Linder and J. W. Robinson, "Superconducting spintronics," Nature Physics 2014 11:4, vol. 11, pp. 307–315, 4 2015.
- [13] S. Kivelson, I. Bindloss, E. Fradkin, V. Oganesyan, J. Tranquada, A. Kapitulnik, and C. Howald, "How to detect fluctuating stripes in the high-temperature superconductors," *Reviews of modern physics*, vol. 75, no. 4, pp. 1201–1241, 2003.
- [14] R. Kondo, M. Higa, S. Kagoshima, N. Hanasaki, Y. Nogami, and H. Nishikawa, "Interplay of charge-density waves and superconductivity in the organic conductor β"-(BEDT-TTF)₂AuBr₂," *Physical Review B - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics*, vol. 81, p. 024519, 1 2010.
- [15] G. Lander, E. Fisher, and S. Bader, "The solid-state properties of uranium a historical perspective and review," Advances in Physics, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 1–111, 1994.
- [16] C. Berthier, P. Molinié, and D. Jérome, "Evidence for a connection between charge density waves and the pressure enhancement of superconductivity in 2H-NbSe₂," *Solid State Communications*, vol. 18, no. 9-10, pp. 1393–1395, 1976.
- [17] A. Briggs, P. Monceau, M. Nunez-Regueiro, J. Peyrard, M. Ribault, and J. Richard, "Charge density wave formation, superconductivity and fermi surface determination in NbSe₃: a pressure study," *Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics*, vol. 13, no. 11, p. 2117, 1980.
- [18] B. Sipos, A. F. Kusmartseva, A. Akrap, H. Berger, L. Forró, and E. Tutiš, "From mott state to superconductivity in 1T-TaS₂," *Nature materials*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 960–965, 2008.
- [19] A. F. Kusmartseva, B. Sipos, H. Berger, L. Forro, and E. Tutiš, "Pressure induced superconductivity in pristine 1T- TiSe₂," *Physical review letters*, vol. 103, no. 23, p. 236401, 2009.
- [20] A. K. Geim and I. V. Grigorieva, "Van der Waals heterostructures," Nature 2013 499:7459, vol. 499, pp. 419–425, 7 2013.
- [21] O. Moulding, T. Muramatsu, C. J. Sayers, J. Zong, Y. Xie, Z. Xu, H. Yang, X. Song, Y. Chen, H. Yang, M. Liu, Z. Huang, Q. Zhang, J. Sun, L. Liu, and Y. Wang, "Topical review: recent progress of charge-density waves in 2D transition metal dichalcogenidebased heterojunctions and their applications," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 32, p. 492001, 2021.
- [22] J. G. Bednorz and K. A. Miiller, "Condensed possible high T_C superconductivity in the Ba-La-Cu-0 system," Z. Phys. B-Condensed Matter, vol. 64, pp. 189–193, 1986.
- [23] J. G. Bednorz and K. A. Muller, "Perovskite-type oxides the new approach to high-T superconductivity," *Reviews of modern Physics*, vol. 60, 1988.

- [24] A. H. C. Neto, "Charge density wave, superconductivity, and anomalous metallic behavior in 2D transition metal dichalcogenides," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 86, pp. 4382–4385, 5 2001.
- [25] B. Loret, N. Auvray, Y. Gallais, M. Cazayous, A. Forget, D. Colson, M. H. Julien, I. Paul, M. Civelli, and A. Sacuto, "Intimate link between charge density wave, pseudogap and superconducting energy scales in cuprates," *Nature Physics*, vol. 15, pp. 771–775, 8 2019.
- [26] W. L. Tu and T. K. Lee, "Genesis of charge orders in high temperature superconductors," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 6, 1 2016.
- [27] H. Miao, G. Fabbris, R. J. Koch, D. G. Mazzone, C. S. Nelson, R. Acevedo-Esteves, G. D. Gu, Y. Li, T. Yilimaz, K. Kaznatcheev, E. Vescovo, M. Oda, T. Kurosawa, N. Momono, T. Assefa, I. K. Robinson, E. S. Bozin, J. M. Tranquada, P. D. Johnson, and M. P. Dean, "Charge density waves in cuprate superconductors beyond the critical doping," *npj Quantum Materials*, vol. 6, 12 2021.
- [28] D. H. Torchinsky, F. Mahmood, A. T. Bollinger, I. Božović, and N. Gedik, "Fluctuating charge-density waves in a cuprate superconductor," *Nature Materials*, vol. 12, pp. 387–391, 5 2013.
- [29] Y. Fang, G. Grissonnanche, A. Legros, S. Verret, F. Laliberté, C. Collignon, A. Ataei, M. Dion, J. Zhou, D. Graf, M. J. Lawler, P. A. Goddard, L. Taillefer, and B. J. Ramshaw, "Fermi surface transformation at the pseudogap critical point of a cuprate superconductor," *Nature Physics 2022 18:5*, vol. 18, pp. 558–564, 3 2022.
- [30] E. H. da Silva Neto, P. Aynajian, A. Frano, R. Comin, E. Schierle, E. Weschke, A. Gyenis, J. Wen, J. Schneeloch, Z. Xu, S. Ono, G. Gu, M. L. Tacon, and A. Yazdani, "Ubiquitous interplay between charge ordering and high-temperature superconductivity in cuprates," *Science*, vol. 343, no. 6169, pp. 393–396, 2014.
- [31] T. Valla, A. Fedorov, P. Johnson, P. Glans, C. McGuinness, K. Smith, E. Andrei, and H. Berger, "Quasiparticle spectra, charge-density waves, superconductivity, and electron-phonon coupling in 2*H*-NbSe₂," *Physical review letters*, vol. 92, no. 8, p. 086401, 2004.
- [32] S. Borisenko, A. Kordyuk, V. Zabolotnyy, D. Inosov, D. Evtushinsky, B. Büchner, A. Yaresko, A. Varykhalov, R. Follath, W. Eberhardt, et al., "Two energy gaps and fermi-surface "arcs" in NbSe₂," Physical review letters, vol. 102, no. 16, p. 166402, 2009.
- [33] G. Grüner, *Density waves in solids*, vol. 89 of *Frontiers in physics*. Addison-Wesley, 1994.
- [34] A. Gabovich, A. Voitenko, and M. Ausloos, "Charge- and spin-density waves in existing superconductors: competition between cooper pairing and peierls or excitonic instabilities," *Physics reports*, vol. 367, no. 6, pp. 583–709, 2002.

- [35] T. Cea and L. Benfatto, "Nature and raman signatures of the higgs amplitude mode in the coexisting superconducting and charge-density-wave state," *Physical Review B*, vol. 90, p. 224515, 2014.
- [36] K. Kudo, Y. Nishikubo, and M. Nohara, "Coexistence of superconductivity and charge density wave in SrPt₂As₂," *Journal of the Physical Society of Japan*, vol. 79, p. 123710, 12 2010.
- [37] Y. Kvashnin, D. Vangennep, M. Mito, S. A. Medvedev, R. Thiyagarajan, O. Karis, A. N. Vasiliev, O. Eriksson, and M. Abdel-Hafiez, "Coexistence of superconductivity and charge density waves in tantalum disulfide: Experiment and theory," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 125, p. 186401, 2020.
- [38] X. Zhu, H. Lei, and C. Petrovic, "Coexistence of bulk superconductivity and charge density wave in Cu_xZrTe₃," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 106, 2011.
- [39] S. J. Denholme, A. Yukawa, K. Tsumura, M. Nagao, R. Tamura, S. Watauchi, I. Tanaka, H. Takayanagi, and N. Miyakawa, "Coexistence of superconductivity and charge-density wave in the quasi-one-dimensional material HfTe₃," *Scientific Reports* 2017 7:1, vol. 7, pp. 1–6, 3 2017.
- [40] A. M. Gabovich and A. I. Voitenko, "Model for the coexistence of d-wave superconducting and charge-density-wave order parameters in high-temperature cuprate superconductors," *Physical Review b*, vol. 80, 2009.
- [41] V. Ginzburg, "On the theory of superconductivity," Soviet Physics JETP, 1950.
- [42] L. Landau, "Theory of the suyerfluidity of helium II," Physical review, vol. 60, 1941.
- [43] J. Bardeen, L. N. Cooper, and J. R. Schrieffer, "Theory of superconductivity," Phys. Rev., vol. 108, pp. 1175–1204, Dec 1957.
- [44] A. Altland and B. D. Simons, *Condensed matter field theory*. Cambridge university press, 2010.
- [45] J. Negele and H. Orland, "Quantum many-particle systems," Redwood City, California, 1988.
- [46] A. Sudbø, "Lecture notes in functional integral methods in condensed matter physics," 1996.
- [47] F. A. Berezin, "The method of second quantization," 1966.
- [48] J. P. Pouget, "The peierls instability and charge density wave in one-dimensional electronic conductors," *Comptes Rendus Physique*, vol. 17, pp. 332–356, 3 2016.
- [49] S. D. Lundemo, "A functional integral approach to magnetism and superconductivity," *Unpublished*, 2022.
- [50] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Statistical Physics: Volume 5, vol. 5. Elsevier, 2013.

- [51] M. D. Johannes and I. I. Mazin, "Fermi surface nesting and the origin of charge density waves in metals," *Physical Review B*, vol. 77, 2008.
- [52] H. Yao, J. A. Robertson, E.-A. Kim, and S. A. Kivelson, "Theory of stripes in quasitwo-dimensional rare-earth tellurides," *PHYSICAL REVIEW B*, vol. 74, 2006.
- [53] N. Plakida, *High-temperature cuprate superconductors: Experiment, theory, and applications*, vol. 166. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010.
- [54] I. Gradshteyn and I.S.Ryzhik, Table of Integrals, Series, and Products. Academic Press, 2015.

Ginzburg-Landau Theory for Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity

Appendix A Coherent State for Fermions

To prove that the state

$$|\xi\rangle = \exp\left(-\sum_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}\right)|0\rangle$$
 (A.0.1)

fulfills the eigenvalue equation

$$a_{\alpha}|\xi\rangle = \xi_{\alpha}|\xi\rangle, \tag{A.0.2}$$

we note that

$$a_{\alpha}e^{-\xi_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}}|0\rangle = a_{\alpha}(1-\xi_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}^{\dagger})|0\rangle \tag{A.0.3}$$

because of the anti-commutation of Grassmann numbers the Taylor expansion terminates after two terms. Next, we use the commutation rules for ξ_{α} and a_{α}

$$=\xi_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}|0\rangle = \xi_{\alpha}|0\rangle. \tag{A.0.4}$$

Further, we note that $\xi_{\alpha}^2 = 0$, which allows us to write

$$=\xi_{\alpha}(1-\xi_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}^{\dagger})|0\rangle =\xi_{\alpha}e^{-\xi_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}}|0\rangle$$
(A.0.5)

and we get that the fermionic coherent state fulfills the eigenvalue-equation. This is easier to prove than for the bosons due to the termination of the Taylor expansion. Ginzburg-Landau Theory for Charge Density Waves and Superconductivity

Appendix B

Gaussian Integrals

In this section, we will first calculate a Gaussian integral for complex variables and then for Grassmann variables.

B.1 Complex variables

We start out with a multiple integral over complex numbers

$$I_{\text{boson}} = \prod_{k} \int \mathcal{D}\bar{x}\mathcal{D}x e^{-\bar{x}_i A_{ij} x_j + x_j \bar{\mathcal{J}}_j + \bar{x}_i \mathcal{J}_i}, \qquad (B.1.1)$$

where we sum over repeated indices, A_{ij} is a symmetric matrix with $\det(A) > 0$, x_i and \mathcal{J}_i are vectors. We have also defined, $\mathcal{D}\bar{x}\mathcal{D}x = \frac{d\bar{x}_k dx_k}{2\pi i}$. First, we look closer at the exponent and want to re-write it as a square of a new variable, depended on x

$$-\bar{x}_i A_{ij} x_j + x_j \bar{\mathcal{J}}_j + \bar{x}_i \mathcal{J}_i = (\bar{x}_i - A_{ij}^{-1} \bar{\mathcal{J}}_j) A_{ij} (x_j - A_{ji}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_i) + \bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j.$$
(B.1.2)

Next, we introduce $z_i = x_i - A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j$ and use that $\mathcal{D}\bar{z}\mathcal{D}z = \mathcal{D}\bar{x}\mathcal{D}x$ to write

$$I_{\text{boson}} = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{z}\mathcal{D}z e^{-\bar{z}_i A_{ij} z_j + \bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j}.$$
 (B.1.3)

By introducing a new basis we can diagonalize the system by a unitary transformation

$$I_{\text{boson}} = e^{\bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j} \int \mathcal{D}\tilde{\tilde{z}} \mathcal{D}\tilde{z} e^{-\sum_n \lambda_n \bar{\tilde{z}}_n \tilde{z}_n}, \qquad (B.1.4)$$

where λ_n is the eigenvalues for the matrix **A**. Further, we write $\tilde{z} = \sqrt{u^2 + v^2} e^{i\theta}$ and

$$\mathcal{D}\tilde{\tilde{z}}\mathcal{D}\tilde{z} = \prod_{k} \frac{d\bar{\tilde{z}}d\tilde{z}}{2\pi i} = \prod_{n} \frac{dudv}{\pi} = \mathcal{D}v\mathcal{D}u, \qquad (B.1.5)$$

where the change in the denominator is due to the change from complex to real integration variables.

$$I_{\text{boson}} = e^{\bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j} \int \mathcal{D} v \mathcal{D} u e^{-\sum_n \lambda_n (u^2 + v^2)}, \qquad (B.1.6)$$

which is

$$I_{\text{boson}} = \frac{1}{\det(A)} e^{\bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j}$$
(B.1.7)

B.2 Grassmann variables

In this appendix, we will calculate the Gaussian integral over Grassmann variables. This corresponds to integrating over the fermionic degree of freedom. We start out with a similar integral

$$I_{\text{fermion}} = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\xi}\mathcal{D}\xi e^{-\bar{\xi}_i A_{ij}\xi_j + \xi_i \bar{\mathcal{J}}_i + \bar{\xi}_j \mathcal{J}_j}, \qquad (B.2.1)$$

where \mathcal{J} and ξ are Grassmann-variables, and A_{ij} need to fulfill the same criteria as for the complex-variable case. For Grassmann variable we define $\mathcal{D}\bar{\xi}\mathcal{D}\xi = \prod_k d\bar{\xi}_k d\xi_k$. Completing the square in the integration variable, and introducing the new variable $\tilde{\xi} = \xi + \mathcal{J}_j A_{ji}^{-1}$ gives

$$\int \mathcal{D}\tilde{\bar{\xi}}\mathcal{D}\tilde{\xi}e^{-\bar{\bar{\xi}}_iA_{ij}\bar{\xi}_j+\bar{\mathcal{J}}_iA_{ij}^{-1}\mathcal{J}_j}$$
(B.2.2)

$$= e^{\bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1} \mathcal{J}_j} \int \mathcal{D}\tilde{\bar{\xi}} \mathcal{D}\tilde{\xi} e^{-\bar{\bar{\xi}}_i A_{ij}\bar{\xi}_j}$$
(B.2.3)

For Grassmann variables, we have that

$$\int d\bar{\xi}d\xi e^{-\bar{\xi}a\xi} = \int d\bar{\xi}d\xi (1 - \bar{\xi}a\xi) = a, \qquad (B.2.4)$$

where we have used that $\int d\xi \bar{\xi}\xi = -\bar{\xi}$. This allows us to write

$$\int \mathcal{D}\tilde{\bar{\xi}}\mathcal{D}\tilde{\xi}e^{-\bar{\tilde{\xi}}_iA_{ij}\tilde{\xi}_j} \tag{B.2.5}$$

$$= \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\eta}\mathcal{D}\eta e^{-\sum_{n}\lambda_{n}\bar{\eta}_{n}\eta_{n}}$$
(B.2.6)

$$= \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\eta}\mathcal{D}\eta(1 - \sum_{n}\lambda_{n}\bar{\eta}_{n}\eta_{n})$$
(B.2.7)

$$=\prod_{n}\lambda_{n} = \det(A) \tag{B.2.8}$$

which gives us that

$$I_{\text{fermion}} = \int \mathcal{D}\bar{\xi}\mathcal{D}\xi e^{-\bar{\xi}_i A_{ij}\xi_j + \xi_i \bar{\mathcal{J}}_i + \bar{\xi}_j \mathcal{J}_j}$$
(B.2.9)

$$= \det(A)e^{\bar{\mathcal{J}}_i A_{ij}^{-1}\mathcal{J}_j}.$$
(B.2.10)

where we can observe that the determinant is now in the numerator and not in the denominator as for the bosonic case.

Appendix C Fourier Transforms

First we define the Fourier transform for the fermion operator as

$$c_{i,\sigma} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N\beta}} \sum_{k} c_{\mathbf{k},\sigma} e^{ik \cdot r_i}.$$
 (C.0.1)

The volume of the four-momentum space is $N\beta$, hence, the factor $(\sqrt{N\beta})^{-1}$. The electronelectron-interaction we want to Fourier transform

$$H_{\rm int} = \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'} \sum_{i,j} V_{\sigma,\sigma'} (r_i - r_j) c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{i,\sigma} c_{j,\sigma'}^{\dagger} c_{j,\sigma'}.$$
(C.0.2)

Inserting the Fourier transforms for the fermionic operators gives

$$H_{\rm int} = \frac{1}{(N\beta)^2} \sum_{\substack{i,j \\ \sigma,\sigma'}} \sum_{\substack{k_1,k_2 \\ k_3,k_4}} V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(r_i - r_j) c_{k_1,\sigma}^{\dagger} e^{-ik_1 \cdot r_i} c_{k_2,\sigma} e^{ik_2 \cdot r_i} c_{k_3,\sigma'}^{\dagger} e^{-ik_3 \cdot r_j} c_{k_4,\sigma'} e^{ik_4 \cdot r_j} \quad (C.0.3)$$

Next, we redefine the position r_i an r_j to be relative position r and center of mass position ${\cal R}$

$$R = \frac{r_i + r_j}{2}, \quad r = r_i - r_j.$$
(C.0.4)

When performing the sum over the center of mass position, we get

$$H_{\text{int}} = \frac{1}{N\beta} \sum_{r,\sigma,\sigma'} \sum_{\substack{k_1,k_2\\k_3,k_4}} V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(r) c^{\dagger}_{k_1,\sigma} c_{k_2,\sigma} c^{\dagger}_{k_3,\sigma'} c_{k_4,\sigma'} e^{-i(k_1-k_2-k_3+k_4)\cdot r/2} \delta(-k_1+k_2-k_3+k_4).$$

(C.0.5) where we used that $\frac{1}{N\beta} \sum_{R} e^{i(-k_1+k_2-k_3+k_4)\cdot R} = \delta(-k_1+k_2-k_3+k_4)$, which gives that

$$k_1 - k_2 = -(k_3 - k_4). \tag{C.0.6}$$

We will now look at two different ways to index the creation and annihilation operators. The first one corresponds to the term we use for the CDW interaction and the second one for the SC interaction.



Figure C.1: Two representations of a Feynmann diagram for an electron-electron interaction, with a potential V.

First alternative We define the center of mass momentum, k and k', and the relative momentum, q as

$$k = \frac{k_1 + k_2}{2}, \quad k' = \frac{k_3 + k_4}{2}, \quad q = k_1 - k_2.$$
 (C.0.7)

Inserting the new definitions into the Hamiltonian gives us

$$H_{\rm int} = \frac{1}{N\beta} \sum_{q,k,k'} \sum_{r} V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(r) e^{-ir \cdot q} c^{\dagger}_{k+q/2,\sigma} c_{k-q/2,\sigma} c^{\dagger}_{k'-q/2,\sigma'} c_{k'+q/2,\sigma'}.$$
 (C.0.8)

Next, we define

$$V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(q) \equiv \frac{1}{N\beta} \sum_{r} V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(r) e^{-ir \cdot q}, \qquad (C.0.9)$$

which leaves us with the final expression for the Fourier-transformed interaction-term

$$H_{\rm int} = \sum_{q,k,k'} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'} V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(q) c^{\dagger}_{k+q/2,\sigma} c_{k-q/2,\sigma} c^{\dagger}_{k'-q/2,\sigma'} c_{k'+q/2,\sigma'}, \qquad (C.0.10)$$

where q is the exchanged momentum in the interaction, k + q/2 is the initial momentum of the left fermion in figure C.1 and k - q/2 the outgoing momentum of the left fermion.

Second alternative An alternative way of renaming the momenta is

$$k = \frac{k_1 - k_3}{2}, \quad k' = \frac{k_2 - k_4}{2},$$
 (C.0.11a)

$$q = k_1 + k_3 = k_2 + k_4. \tag{C.0.11b}$$

This gives us a Hamiltonian on the form

$$H_{\rm int} = \sum_{q,k,k'} V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(k'-k) c^{\dagger}_{k+q/2,\sigma} c_{k'+q/2,\sigma} c^{\dagger}_{-k+q/2,\sigma'} c_{-k'+q/2,\sigma'}, \qquad (C.0.12)$$

where

$$V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(k'-k) \equiv \frac{1}{N\beta} \sum_{r} V_{\sigma,\sigma'}(r) e^{i\mathbf{r}\cdot(k'-k)}.$$
 (C.0.13)

This interaction is shown as a Feynmann diagram on the right in figure C.1.
Appendix D

General Formula for Matsubara Summation

This appendix will follow the lecture notes from Lecture Notes in Functional Integral Methods in Condensed Matter Physics by Asle Sudbø [46]. First, we want to perform the following sums

$$\sum_{\omega_n} \frac{1}{i\omega_n - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{\beta}{1 + e^{\beta\xi_{\mathbf{k}}}}.$$
 (D.0.1)

To do this we will use Cauchy's residue theorem. We will use the Fermi distribution is given by

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{\beta z}},$$
 (D.0.2)

We can see that it has poles in $i\omega_n$. The Cauchy's residue theorem tells us that

$$\oint dzg(z) = 2\pi i \sum_{i} \operatorname{Res}_{z \to z_0}[g(z_i)].$$
(D.0.3)

By integrating over the Fermi distribution and using the theorem, we have

$$\oint dz f(z) = 2\pi i \lim_{z \to i\omega_n} \left[(z - i\omega_n) f(z) \right] = 2\pi i \lim_{z \to i\omega_n} \frac{z - i\omega_n}{1 + e^{\beta z}} \tag{D.0.4}$$

$$= 2\pi i \lim_{z \to i\omega_n} \frac{z - i\omega_n}{1 + e^{\beta(z - i\omega_n + i\omega_n)}} = 2\pi i \lim_{z \to i\omega_n} \frac{z - i\omega_n}{1 - e^{\beta(z - i\omega_n)}}$$
(D.0.5)

$$= 2\pi i \lim_{z \to i\omega_n} \frac{z - i\omega_n}{1 - (1 + \beta(z - i\omega_n) + ...)} \approx 2\pi i \lim_{z \to i\omega_n} \frac{z - i\omega_n}{-\beta(z - i\omega_n)} = -\frac{2\pi i}{\beta}$$
(D.0.6)

where we have used that $\omega_n = \frac{(2n+1)\pi}{\beta}$. Integrating over a curve C that encloses all the poles of f(z), but non of the poles in $g(z) = \frac{1}{z-\xi_k}$, we have that

$$\sum_{i\omega_n} g(i\omega_n) = -\frac{\beta}{2\pi i} \oint_C dz g(z) f(z).$$
(D.0.7)

The deformation of the curve must be such that it is covering the poles of f(z) and not



Figure D.1: Deformation of the curve C

the poles of g(z). We will use the deformation in D.1. The integral is

$$\frac{\beta}{2\pi i} \oint_C dz g(z) f(z) = \frac{\beta}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\epsilon \left[\frac{f(\epsilon + i\delta)}{\epsilon + i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{f(\epsilon - i\delta)}{\epsilon - i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right].$$
(D.0.8)

Since f(x) is continuous we can write this as

$$\frac{\beta}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\epsilon f(\epsilon) \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon + i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \frac{1}{\epsilon - i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right].$$
(D.0.9)

Next, we want to divide the integral into tree parts, namely for $\epsilon > \xi_{\mathbf{k}} + i\delta$, $\xi_{\mathbf{k}} - i\delta < \epsilon < \xi_{\mathbf{k}} + i\delta$ and $\epsilon < \xi_{\mathbf{k}} + i\delta$

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} = \int_{-\infty}^{R} + \int_{\gamma_{\pm}} + \int_{R}^{\infty}, \qquad (D.0.10)$$

where γ_{\pm} is the upper/lower circle around the pole of g(x). The integral will now be

$$\frac{\beta}{2\pi i} \left[\int_{-\infty}^{R} d\epsilon \frac{f(\epsilon)}{\epsilon + i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + \int_{\gamma_{+}} d\epsilon \frac{f(\epsilon)}{\epsilon + i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} + \int_{R}^{\infty} d\epsilon \frac{f(\epsilon)}{\epsilon + i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right]$$
(D.0.11)

$$-\int_{-\infty}^{R} d\epsilon \frac{f(\epsilon)}{\epsilon - i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \int_{\gamma_{-}} d\epsilon \frac{f(\epsilon)}{\epsilon - i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \int_{R}^{\infty} d\epsilon \frac{f(\epsilon)}{\epsilon - i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right]$$
(D.0.12)

$$= \frac{\beta}{2\pi i} \left[\int_{\gamma_{+}} d\epsilon \frac{f(\epsilon)}{\epsilon + i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} - \int_{\gamma_{-}} d\epsilon \frac{f(\epsilon)}{\epsilon - i\delta - \xi_{\mathbf{k}}} \right].$$
(D.0.13)

For the integrals where the curve is not over the pole, we can remove $\pm i\delta$. Using Cauchy principal value we get

$$\oint_C dz g(z) f(z) = -\frac{\beta}{2\pi i} 2\pi i f(\xi_{\mathbf{k}}).$$
(D.0.14)

Going back to equation (D.0.7), we see that

$$\sum_{\omega_n} g(i\omega_n) = \frac{\beta}{1 + e^{\xi_k \beta}},\tag{D.0.15}$$

XIV

which is what we wanted to prove.

Higher-powers Next, we want to give a general formula for higher powers of the denominator in the sum. We want to prove that

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n - \xi)^m} = \frac{\beta}{(m-1)!} \partial_{\xi}^{m-1} f(\xi).$$
(D.0.16)

We will make use of the following expression for the derivative

$$\partial_{\xi}^{m} \frac{1}{i\omega_{n} - \xi} = \frac{m!}{(i\omega_{n} - \xi)^{m+1}}.$$
 (D.0.17)

By inserting this into (D.0.16), we get

$$\sum_{n} \frac{1}{(i\omega_n - \xi)^m} = \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \partial_{\xi}^{m-1} \frac{1}{i\omega_n - \xi}$$
(D.0.18)

$$= \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \partial_{\xi}^{m-1} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{i\omega_n - \xi} = \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \partial_{\xi}^{m-1} \beta f(\xi), \qquad (D.0.19)$$

which gives us the desired result.





